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ORDER

Appeals from orders of North Gauteng High Courgtéra (Van Dijkhorst, P C
Combrinck and De Villiers AJJ) sitting as courtfio$t instance.

Per NUGENT JA, MPATI P and PONNAN JA concurring, AEH and WALLIS
JJA dissenting in part. (The order appears at §éra

1. The appeal of the General Council of the Badigmnissed. The first to
seventh respondents in that appeal are to pay dkts ©f the General
Council of the Bar and those of the Pretoria Sgctdt Advocates, jointly

and severally, which are to include the costs af taunsel.

2. The orders for repayment of moneys made agtiasippellant advocates in
appeals 273/12, 281/12, 280/12, 275/12, 274/12 248112 are set aside.
That apart, their appeals are dismissed, in eas@ wéth costs that include

the costs of two counsel.



JUDGMENT

NUGENT JA (MPATI P and PONNAN JA CONCURRING)

[1] These appeals concern thirteen practising aalescwho are members of the
Pretoria Society of Advocates. Tweteé the advocates were found guilty by the
Bar Council of the Society, on their own admissjarfsunprofessional conduct. In
each case the Bar Council visited their conduch wiisciplinary sanctions. The
Society thereupon applied to the North Gauteng Highrt for orders ‘noting’ the
disciplinary action that had been taken. It alspliad for an order striking the
name of a thirteenth advoc&tem the roll of advocates. The General Council of
the Bar (GCB) intervened in the proceedings andjlsbarders striking the names

of all the advocates from the roll.

[2] The applications were heard together by a Bdurt (Van Dijkhorst, PC
Combrinck and De Villiers AJJ)It imposed further sanctions upon sevefithe
twelve who had been disciplined by the Bar Counaihich included paying
various amounts to the Road Accident Fund. As fier remaining five,and the

thirteenti advocate who had not been sanctioned by the Bandlpit ordered

B P Geach SC, J O’'D Williams SC, J S M Giildenpfgniii Pillay, M Upton, M J Botha, E Seima, M C C De
Klerk, C G Jordaan, C R Van Onselen, P M LeopenB, \dogagabe.

%L F Bezuidenhout.

% Pretoria Society of Advocates v Geach 2011 (648A (Ngoza).

*Geach SC, Williams SC, Giildenpfennig, Upton, Seiloadaan, Van Onselen.

*Pillay, Botha, De Klerk, Leopeng, Mogagabe.

®Bezuidenhout.
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them to pay various amounts to the Fund, and stituek names from the roll of
advocates.

[3] The GCB appeals the orders made in respech®fseven advocates who
were not struck from the roll, contending that theyght to have been. The
remaining six advocates appeal the orders madengigdiem, contending that it
was not competent to order them to make paymenthaed~und, and that they
ought not to have been struck from the roll. A thppeals are before us with the

leave of this court.

[4] | conclude that all the appeals should fail alink it is useful at the outset

to state briefly the basis upon which | reach twatclusion.

[5] As | expand upon later in this judgment theecaalled for three steps in the
enquiry before the court below. The first two a nontroversial. The appeal
turns on the third step of its enquiry — which wdsether the advocates concerned
ought or ought not to have been struck off, asce® may be. That decision fell
within the discretion of the court below and thare limited grounds upon which
an appeal court may interfere. The only groundcedelipon in this case (apart from
reliance by two advocates upon perceived bias erp#rt of one member of that
court, which is dealt with in the judgment of PonnkA) was that the court was
said to have misdirected its enquiry in various svait is only if we conclude that
it did misdirect its enquiry that we are entitledembark upon that enquiry afresh

and, if appropriate, substitute our decision fat thf the court below.
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[6] The enquiry before us thus falls to be conddate two stages. The first
enquiry is whether the court misdirected its enguiris only if we conclude that it

did that we move to the second stage.

[7] | see no proper grounds for finding that themtdelow indeed misdirected
its enquiry. On that basis the second stage dokearise. It is on that basis that |

dismiss all the appeals.

[8] Some background is necessary to understanddhae of the misconduct.
The Road Accident Fund established under the Roaddént Fund Act 56 of
1996 is obliged to compensate any person for loslmage from death or bodily
injury caused by or arising from the negligent thres wrongful driving of a motor
vehicle. A large majority of claims made againg Fund are meritorious. To the
extent that any dispute exists in those casesisipeite is generally confined to the
apportionment of responsibility or to the amountcompensation to which the
claimant is entitled, or to both. For those who experienced in that field, settling
disputes of that kind is often relatively straigitfard. Thus it might be expected
that many claims against the Fund would be promgisessed and paid, perhaps
after discussion with attorneys for the claimatséttle disputed issues, thereby

minimising legal costs and ensuring that claimantenptly receive their due.

[9] But that is not how the Fund conducted its ia$fat the relevant time. For
some years the administration of the Fund had loeeinsarray. Claims were not
being evaluated and settled promptly, and claiméniad themselves compelled
to institute action. Even then the Fund would pastinate and claimants would be
compelled to bring the pleadings to a close, arsktdhe actions down on the trial

roll, even when claims were not truly disputed.the belief that procrastination



would ease its cash flow the Fund went so far dsatee as its policy that claims
would not be settled more than twenty days betoeedate set for the trial.

[10] The situation that prevailed was describedhim affidavit by the Chairman
of the GCB as follows:

‘The Fund is frequently wholly unprepared for tréald has often incurred substantial expenses
in taking to trial or appeal matters which it stebuésponsibly have not contested and should
have resolved. The Fund has sought to manage gsiran cash flow problems by delays in
conceding liability, forcing matters to trial andlp conceding liability after a trial matter has
been called at roll call. The Fund’s inadequateiasatficient administration has resulted in legal
costs being driven up by the Fund drawing outdifign and by generating unnecessary litigation
with the overall intention of settling matters hetdoors of the court. A vast number of RAF
trials do not start or run but are settled at coMdreover, settlements are invariably concluded
on the basis that the Fund either makes a coniribtibwards or agrees to pay the claimants’
costs. It has been financially constrained which imapeded its ability to pay claims, and to a

large extent the Fund has been dysfunctional.’

[11] The Fund’s procrastination in promptly setjlimand paying meritorious
claims can only be deprecated. Not only was itslaohincreasing legal costs that
became payable by the Fund — both its own costgrendosts that were incurred
by claimants, for which the Fund would invariably llable — but it kept claimants

from the compensation that they were entitled to.

[12] Its conduct also had adverse consequencethédomanagement of the trial
roll in the North Gauteng High Court. It became ndated with actions that
claimants were compelled to set down for trial, revdbough no trial was

anticipated, only to bring matters to a head. Ttublem became so acute that the
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Deputy President of that court found it necessargdmpile a separate roll for
actions against the Fund on which 70 actions agtied-und were listed per day.

[13] Needless to say, the burden imposed on the,cand upon attorneys acting
for claimants, was intolerable. To find 140 or madk/ocates every day — one for
the claimant and one for the Fund — to bring eddiase cases to finality would

be well nigh impossible. Moreover, it could hardig expected that advocates
would hold themselves available for a full day iattars that were clearly destined
to be settled or postponed. And so a practice dpeel that advocates would
receive and accept briefs for multiple cases thdttbeen set down on the trial roll

on one day.

[14] Accepting briefs to conduct more than onel iathe same day is generally
prohibited by the rules of the bar for the obvisaason that an advocate is not
capable of conducting trials simultaneously. Thaseguence of holding briefs to
conduct two trials on one day is inevitably thabdth trials proceed the advocate
will find himself or herself compelled to overcorttee dilemma by directing at
least one case to settlement, perhaps againstnteests of the client, or by
postponing one so as to continue with the othaxinaggainst the interests of the
client, or by surrendering the brief to an unpreparcolleague (assuming a
colleague was willing to accept it). It is not suspg then that the practice of
accepting potentially conflicting briefs — commordglled ‘double-briefing’ — is
expressly prohibited by Rule 2.6 of the Uniform &ubf the bar:

‘It is improper for counsel to retain a brief preusly accepted by him if the circumstances are
such that he should reasonably foresee ... that lbdwrave to surrender the brief for whatever

reason, and that the surrender of such brief coailte inconvenience and/or embarrassment
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and/or prejudice to his client and/or a colleagu®ws to succeed him in the brief and/or his

instructing attorney’

[15] In its heads of argument the GCB submitted #ra advocate transgresses
the rule if he or she holds briefs even to settl@ or more cases on the trial roll on
a day but | do not think that is necessarily cdrr&be rule prohibits accepting a
brief if the advocate ‘should reasonably foresdgattit would have to be
surrendered and whether that is so will dependhenpiarticular case. No doubt
there are cases in which settlement negotiationdbeaexpected to be intense and
protracted, calling for the advocate’s full attentiand time, but that will not
always be so, particularly in road accident cadadeed, Rule 2.8 recognises that

multiple briefs in such cases is not prohibited wheprovides that

[it] is not improper for counsel to accept a briefsettle a matter, as opposed to a brief ori trial

[16] An advocate who accepts a brief to conductia must hold himself or
herself available to do so. Because the advocasehledd himself or herself
available he or she is generally entitled to adialy’s fee if the case settles on the
day or even shortly before that and the advocaehban left with no other income
for the day. But if his or her instructions arepmstpone a case when the roll is
called, or to note that the case has been setttad, negotiate a settlement of the
claim, then the fee must be commensurate withgeatice. To charge a trial fee
where the instructions are not to conduct a tralibstead to do something else is

overreaching.

[17] In the cases that are before us the advoaaiesumerous occasions held
multiple briefs for cases on the trial roll on afey and in each case they charged a

full trial free. They were charged by the Bar Caumdgth multiple counts of
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double-briefing and overreaching and in most cabey readily admitted the
transgressions. At the same time they protestedtki®ar clients had not been
prejudiced, nor had there even been potential giegy because their true
instructions had usually been only to settle opastpone, and in many cases that
Is probably true.

[18] Consistent with the evidence of the Chairmdntle GCB that | have
referred to this is how one advocate explainegtigstion:

‘In the matters in which | was briefed, the [Fung}y rarely, if ever, briefed counsel to appear
on its behalf. Matters would always stand down dettlement. On the rare occasions when
counsel were briefed it was in the greatest mgjaiftcases not to run a trial at all but merely to
facilitate the settlement thereof or to seek agmsment of quantum or of both liability and
guantum. Witnesses from both sides were hardly puesent at Court. As a general rule, the
[Fund] was never ready to proceed to trial ancrgfheither party could have proceeded to trial.
Experts were not in attendance nor even on standisre was no doubt that the matters would
not proceed to trial. In many instances, acceptatilys were or had been made and it was a
guestion of only trying to persuade the [Fund] toréase the offer. These were not real trial
briefs at all. It was not necessary to proceedhenbiasis that they would proceed to trial if not
settled. In truth, in my case, they were virtuallybriefs purely on settlement. This is illusticte
by the fact that when | took more than one brieadime they were mostly from the same
attorney. The [Fund] would not properly considetlsment until the trial date was at hand. The
extraordinarily few cases that would ultimately &awe proceed to trial were readily identifiable
in advance. That is why, as it transpired, | nexsrountered a situation where | prejudiced this
Honourable Court, my clients, my colleagues, arngraeys or myself. There was, in fact, no
juggling of briefs in my case. Matters always staloavn for recalculations or simply for formal
mandates from the [Fund] sometimes for days ame.tBy then, these matters were for all
practical purposes already settled. No-one was ewveéer any illusion that these matters would
ever proceed to trial. 1 was under pressure fromhmgfing Attorneys who were themselves

under pressure to assist them with multiple brefigy. | found it extremely difficult to refuse.’
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[19] Some advocates went so far as to say in taidavits that by holding

multiple briefs they had performed a valuable s#ntd their attorneys and also to
the court, because it had assisted to manage tigested trial roll. Indeed, the
judges calling the trial roll complimented themtimtes for assisting to ease the

congestion.

[20] To that extent there is no reason not to belithem. The practice of the
Fund to pay claims only at the doors of the coart be expected to have resulted
In cases being on the trial roll in which there wasdispute at all. What would
have been required was only for the Fund to agplynind to the claim and pay it.
There must also have been cases in which the dispas narrow and a ready
settlement could be expected. There would alse baen cases in which it would
quickly become apparent that settlement was ndtilplesand the case would have
to be postponed to prepare for a trial. It is appafrom the affidavits that many
of the multiple briefs must in truth have been fsri® perform services of that
kind. In cases of that kind an advocate might iddeet ‘reasonably foresee’ a
conflict arising as contemplated by Rule 2.6, ameirtconduct would not have
amounted to double-briefing as contemplated by thit. Yet they all admitted

that they had indeed contravened the rule.

[21] To apply the law justly I think it should b@g@lied to the facts as they are
known to be, in preference to the facts as theyraeely said to be, where the two
conflict, and that applies as much to admissiorsd #re made incorrectly. No
doubt they were charged with double-briefing beeaih®ir records reflected that
in each case they had been briefed to conducala triet on the facts they allege,
in many cases neither they nor their attorneysadd that to occur, and the briefs

were marked in that way as a sham. Rule 2.6 isaroed with what the advocate
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IS in truth called upon to do by his instructiom®t to what is written on the

briefing document. It is probably true that in marases the manner in which they
carried out their instructions indeed did not pdepe their clients and the

admissions of double-briefing recede to the baadkgido But simultaneously the

further charges of overreaching come sharply tddhe

[22] Because what the protestations of the adescaverlooks is that if their
true instructions were indeed to postpone or seétkes, and not to conduct trials,
then by their own admissions they were not entittedharge a fee as if they had

been briefed to conduct a trial.

[23] Yet in every case they, abetted by their atgs, charged a fee as if they
had been instructed to conduct a trial when, oir then versions, they knew full
well that was not true. Most said their trial feesre reasonable, and perhaps they
were, but that is beside the point: they were matled to a trial fee at all. As the
high court expressed it:

‘The respondents are on the horns of a dilemmaul8hthey say that the additional matter
would surely settle, the question is: Why then natkial fee? Should they say we were ready to

proceed to trial, the question is: What then abloaitother matter?’

[24] It is an extraordinary feature of these cabed some of the advocates, at
least initially, seemed rather unconcerned at ltpeimarged those fees, and that
was shared by senior colleagues at the bar. Inddgtxt,the GCB intervened, and
guestions were posed by the court below, some disreayed that their honesty
should be questioned. In argument before us codimsehe of the advocates even
persisted in submitting that charging trial feesewlithere was no intention that the

matter would go to trial was not dishonest.
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[25] Why advocates should have thought it was melt@hest to charge trial fees
when they knew full well that they were not brief@dconduct a trial remains a
mystery to me. Mr Pelser SC, who appeared for theieB/, could provide no
explanation, but glimmerings were evident in sonighe@ submissions. | have
pointed out that it is accepted practice, withmilations, for an advocate who is
briefed on trial to charge a full trial fee if tieatter becomes settled on the day or
shortly before then. Absent an alternative exgianal can only assume that it
was believed, by extension, that a trial fee wasnssible provided only that the
case was on the trial roll, or that the brief waarked on trial, even if only as a
sham. If that was indeed the belief then it isymbinhg.

[26] Apart from the protestations that clients we prejudiced because their
true instructions in one case were capable of besmged out without prejudice to
the other, most went on to say that claimants foow they acted were also not
financially prejudiced because the Fund was indyiable for the costs. Though
claimants may not have been financially prejudicedainly there was prejudice to
the Fund in paying fees to which the advocates wetentitled. It is no answer to
say, as some of them did, that the administratbtkeoFund were aware of what
was occurring. Dereliction of duty by officials @& public fund is not the

benchmark against which to measure the conduataicates.

[27] To summarise what occurred, the manner in wihie affairs of the Fund
were being conducted made it ripe for plunderimgl #ihe advocates concerned set
about doing just that. To the extent that they debiefed they transgressed and
that was at least potentially prejudicial to thelients. But even where each

instruction was capable of being fulfilled withoptejudice to the others they
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charged fees to which they were not entitled. Teeheharged trial fees in those
circumstances was dishonest. It is unfortunatetti@Pretoria Bar Council did not
see things that way.

[28] Against that background | turn to the facts.

[29] During 2006 it came to the attention of ther Bauncil that some members
were announcing themselves at the roll call asrupbieen briefed in more than
one case, particularly in actions against the Fukiter investigation the Bar

Council issued a circular to its members. The tarctecorded the following:
‘It has come to the attention of the Bar Coundittbome members appear at the roll call of civil
trials in several matters set down for the same @ais phenomenon is prevalent especially in
third party matters.
In the normal course the matters in which one celuappears are either postponed or a
settlement is made an order of court or noted, eviml many instances the same counsel
announces that he/she is ready to proceed in anothder, in some instances even having
requested another matter to stand down for settieme
What is further most alarming is that such courmebably charge full fees in respect of
preparation and appearance (a day fee) in eachiobf satters. Such conduct is viewed in a
serious light as it undoubtedly amounts to doubiefing, and in many instances even to
multiple briefing, and overreaching.
1. Counsel may not retain more than one brief ier $ame day and charge a day fee in
respect of more than one brief;
2. It is permissible to retain more than one bioetthe same day strictly provided that:
2.1 A full day fee may only be charged in respdcome brief, if counsel has been
briefed for trial thereon and the matter becomédtesenot more than two days
before the trial date, or the matter proceeds i@, tor there is an opposed

postponement or an opposed argument on costs.
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2.2 In the other matters in which the same couappkars, it will be assumed that
counsel was briefed only to settle the matter itoetance with paragraph 2.8 of
the Code of Conduct. Counsel will be entitled targe for the time spent and the
reasonable fee for the taking of the order or th&tgonement of the matter on an
unopposed basis.

2.3 Retention of a brief under paragraph 2.2 absvenly permissible if counsel’s
specific mandateis tosettle If there is any possibility of the matter procieed
to trial, or becoming an opposed postponement,casés argument, counsel shall
not be entitled to take or retain the brief togethath a brief falling under
paragraph 2.1 above.

3. Members who take or retain a brief contraryhi guidelines in paragraph 2.3 above, act
in contravention of paragraph 2.6 of the Code afdiwt and shall therefore be guilty of
misconduct.

4. Charging a full day fee in respect of more tbaa trial shall be seen as overreaching and
a contravention of paragraph 7.1.1 of the CodeafdDct.

5. In order to remove any misunderstanding, itldbalseen as misconduct if at roll call a
matter is requested to stand down for settlemecunsel holds another brief in respect
of which he has been briefed on trial.

8. The above scenarios are clearly to be distihgagiSrom the case where counsel was
briefed on trial and the matter is settlaefore the trial date and subsequent to settlement
counsel is briefed on trial in another matter floe same day. In such case counsel is
entitled to mark a normal reasonable reservatienirierespect of the matter which has
become settled together with full fees in respéthe other matter.’

[30] The practice appeared to abate for a whileitn@eptember 2009 it came to
the attention of the Bar Council that it had resdmniéinstructed the convener of
its Professional and Ethics Committee, Ellis SOnt@stigate. The committee met
and twelve of the advocates who are parties toetlagpeals were identified as

suspects. Upton was later added to the list.
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[31] It was agreed by the committee that the adwesc@oncerned would be
called upon to produce their fee books and didoedhe period from 1 March
2009, which would be submitted to an auditor foalgsis. Ellis SC duly wrote to
them asking for their books to be produced. Thewks were not produced but
instead various discussions ensued. The upshothatsix immediately confessed
to transgressingfour asked for the mandate of the committee toeoensidered
and proposed a general amnésand two, according to Ellis SC, flatly refused to
produce their booksThe confessions of the six were accepted andeieest to

produce their books was not pursued.

[32] Further discussions ensued with the implicateembers. Meanwhile, the
four members | referred to earlier wrote to the Bauncil advising, amongst other
things, that approximately 62 other advocates mgged in the practice, and that
they were being subjected to unequal treatment, paogdosing that there be a

general amnesty.

[33] The committee made the following recommendsito the Bar Council:

‘13.1  The two members who defied the Bar Coundgilstruction to surrender their books,
should be referred to the disciplinary committeedppropriate action;

13.2 The proposal of an amnesty, proposed by Pslaguld be declined,;

13.3 The signatories of the Pillay letter shoulglzEed on terms to:

13.3.1 Divulge the names of the 62 members thegalbhre also guilty of double briefing or
over-reaching; and

13.3.2 Tender their fee books and diaries to theveoer, before close of business on 19
November 2009;

13.4 The “confessions” of the six be accepted herfollowing terms:

'Geach SC, Williams SC, Botha, Giildenpfenning, Seand Van Onselen
®pillay, Leopeng, Mogagabe and Seima.
°De Klerk and Bezuidenhout.
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13.4.1 They should pay the amounts tendered by thtara special fund, to be administered
by the Bar Council, to assist junior members whowarable to pay their Bar fees, in the
first year of their practice;

13.4.2 A finding of guilty of double briefing and@reaching be entered on their files;

13.4.3 Each should be suspended for one month hwthispension should be effective during
the court term, over a period determined by the@auncil.

13.5 The resolution in paragraph 13.4 above shgllyaas benchmark to all other members

who voluntarily submit similar tenders before 15cBmber 2009, to the convener of the
committee, whether they are identified by the cottewior not;

13.6  Future similar misconduct will be summarilyaflevith by the Disciplinary Committee.’

[34] The recommendations of the committee were webay the Bar Council
and a committee comprising De Vos SC, SJ Maritz &@ LP Dicker was
appointed to investigate the allegations and toonmeps findings to the Bar
Council. NGD Maritz SC and FJ Labuschagne were mppd to assist in the

investigation.

[35] The following day four members — Bezuidenhdae, Klerk, Pillay, Leopeng
and Jordaan — sent a memorandum to the Bar Cotnatjl although misguided,
was clearly aimed at resisting disclosure of theiwks. Amongst other things they
said the following:

‘[From] this moment on we invoke our rights guaesed to us under the Constitution of the
Republic of South Africa, Act 108 of 1996, more gfieally the rights afforded us under
Chapter 2, Section 14 of the Constitution °..’

10 »Everyone has the right to privacy, which includes right not to have -
(a) their person or home searched,;

(b) their property searched;

(c) their possessions seized; or

(d) the privacy of their communications infringed.'
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[36] The investigating committee — | will call iheé ‘De Vos committee’ to
distinguish it from another committee that was sgoently appointed —
commenced enquiring into the matter. Meanwhile NritdaSC, acting as pro-
forma prosecutor, had formulated charges agairsténious advocates. In each
they were charged with multiple counts of doublefimg and corresponding
counts of overreaching. He also formulated sansttbat he would recommend to

the committee.

[37] Ten of the advocates were called before thamittee and consented to it
being converted to a disciplinary tribunal. Theynfially admitted the charges and

the committee imposed sanctions on each of them.

[38] The disciplinary measures provided for in f@enstitution of the Society
allow for suspension from membership and for thpasition of a maximum fine

of R2 000. The sanctions imposed by the commitidellowed a standard form. |

need only set out their effect. In each case thengittee imposed a fine,
suspended the advocate from membership of the t3paied placed him under a
supervisory regime for 18 months after the suspansxpired. | tabulate below the
number of counts admitted by each advocate (in eade a count of double
briefing and a corresponding count of overreachitigg fine that was imposed,

and the period for which his membership was susgend

Geach SC 82 counts R164 000 3 months
Guldenpfennig 90 counts R90 000 2 months
Upton 16 counts R 16 000 4 weeks
Williams SC* 60 counts R120 000 6 months
Seima 33 counts R33000 5 weeks
Jordaan 20 counts R 20 000 4 weeks

“An additional fine of R76 000 was imposed on 38ntewf failing to register a contingency fee agreetn The
contingency fees were returned.
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Van Onselen 133 counts R133 000 3 months
Pillay 28 counts R 28 000 5 weeks

Leopeng 315 counts R157 500 6 months
Mogagabe 461 counts R230 000 6 months

[39] In its report to the Bar Council the committescorded, amongst other
things, that it had had ‘the fullest, candid andd=si co-operation’ of the members
concerned, that the members had acted ‘in wilfatetjard of the ethical rules of
practice of [the Society], and that their condudisplayed a decided ongoing
pattern of double-briefing and overreaching ovérathy period’. The committee
went on to report that ‘there was no element ohali®sty on the part of the
members’: on the contrary they had performed thduties ‘honestly,

professionally, and with dedication in each ins&rand that ‘on the evidence
before us it is also evident that neither the pitisnnor the [Fund] were prejudiced
in the matters in which the affected members aotedrief.’ It reported that the

courts, the attorneys and counsel had ‘co-opeiatadconcerted effort to remedy
an insufferable situation that had arisen’ and #mata result ‘the incidences of

double briefing pale to a significant extent.’

[40] It is astonishing that the committee shouldéndeld those latter views. |
have already said that to charge a trial fee wlareadvocate is instructed to
perform a service that is not to conduct a trialdishonest and constitutes
overreaching. That was made plain in the circdaued by the Bar Council in
2006.

[41] The Bar Council debated the report of the cottem — the debate was said
to have been ‘vigorous’ — and adopted the sanctimsishad been recommended. It
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resolved as well to place its decision before tighHCourt for orders to be made

that | refer to presently.

[42] That disposed of the ten members leaving thfée Bar Council appointed
a new committee to deal with them, comprising L &fer SC, P Van Niekerk SC
and A Laka (I refer to it as the Vorster committde¢ Klerk and Botha appeared
before the committee. At his request the invesbgatof Bezuidenhout was

postponed to a later date.

[43] The Vorster committee took a different viewtbé matter. It found the two
members to have acted without integrity, that tleginduct had prejudiced the
Fund, and it recommended that the Bar Council &tkes to have them struck
from the roll. The recommendations of the Vorsmmmittee were rejected by the
Bar Council. Instead the two advocates were sameti@onsistently with the other
ten. The counts that each admitted, and the fine$ effective periods of

suspension imposed, were as follows:

Botha 170 counts R170 000 5 months
De Klerk 74 counts R 74 000 3 months

[44] That left only Bezuidenhout. He appeared admfore the committee and
applied for the recusal of its members, in viewtls# findings they had made in
relation to Botha and De Klerk. The members dedlinele announced his
intention to apply to the high court to review thdecision, whereupon the Bar
Council revoked the mandate of the committee anddaed an application for an

order striking Bezuidenhout from the roll.
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[45] At the same time the Society applied to thetN&auteng High Court, in

separate applications in respect of each advdoaterders as follows:
1. That the disciplinary sanctions imposed upoa tespondent by the [Society] be noted;
and/or

2. That such other order be made as the HonouGilet may deem appropriate’.

[46] Thirteen separate applications were thus leefioe high court: twelve for the

sanctions that had been imposed to be ‘noted’plosdich other appropriate order
to be made, and in the case of Bezuidenhout, fasrdar striking him from the

roll. After the advocates had filed answering affis the GCB was admitted as a
party to the proceedings and asked for ordersirsiyill the advocates from the
roll. It advanced no further facts of its own belied on the facts contained in the
founding affidavit of the Society. Further affides/were filed by the advocates in

response to the orders sought by the GCB.

[47] At the time the applications were heard by ltigh court all the advocates
had paid the fines imposed on them and had seheddgeriods of suspension. In
respect of seven of the advocates, it ordered tioepay varying amounts to the
Fund. In four of those cases it ordered a furtlegiog of suspension, part of which
was suspended for a period on certain conditiangshé remaining three cases a
period of suspension was imposed, all of which s@aspended. By the time the
matter came before us all had paid the moneys addérved their further periods

of suspension.

[48] | tabulate below the full sanction visited each of the seven once the high
court had made its orders under the following ceolsnthe fine imposed by the

Society, the amount the advocate was ordered tdg#ye Fund, the total period
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of actual suspension (those in bold are suspensiopssed by the Society that
were not added to by the court) and, in brackets farther period of suspension
that was suspended.
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Geach SC R164 000 R984 000 12 months (6 months)
Guldenpfennig R 90 000 R864 000 12 months (6 m@nths
Upton R 16 000 R166 400 4 weeks (6 months)
Williams SC R120 000 R864 000 11 months (7 months)
Seima R33 000 R141 900 5 weeks (6 months)
Jordaan R 20 000 R 94000 4 weeks (6 months)
Van Onselen R133 000 R967 800 9 months (6 months)

[49] The other six advocates were struck off thik and in addition they were

ordered to pay the following amounts to the Fund:

Pillay R 268 800
Botha R1 768 000
De Klerk R 310 800
Leopeng R1 323 000
Mogagabe R1 916 800

Bezuidenhout R5 992 400

[50] Section 7(1}) of the Admissions of Advocates Act 74 of 19640ai a

court to suspend any person from practise as amcatl or to order that his or her
name be struck off the roll of advocates ‘if theitas satisfied that he [or she] is
not a fit and proper person to continue to pracisean advocate.’ It is trite that
there are three steps in the enquiry whether scinbnashould be taken. Malan

v Law Society, Northern Provindésthis court said, in the context of the
comparable provision of the Attorneys Act 53 of Q9ilying upon what had been

said to similar effect idasat v Natal Law Sociely

2Malan v Law Society, Northern Provinc2809 (1) SA 216 (SCA) para 4.
13jasat v Natal Law SocieB000 (3) SA 44 (SCA) para 10.
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‘First, the court must decide whether the allegéénaling conduct has been established on a
preponderance of probabilities, which is a factoguiry.

Second, it must consider whether the person coadéin the discretion of the court” is not a fit
and proper person to continue to practise. Thilies a weighing up of the conduct
complained of against the conduct expected of aorrety and, to this extent, is a value
judgment.

And third, the court must inquire whether in ak ttircumstances the person in question is to be
removed from the roll of attorneys or whether adeorof suspension from practice would

suffice.’

[51] The words ‘in the discretion of the court’ time second stage of the enquiry
appear in s 22 of the Attorneys Act and are ab$emh the Admission of
Advocates Act but that is not significant for pneispurposes. The enquiry in each
case necessarily calls for the conduct complairffetb de weighed against the
standards of the profession, which is partly vgligment and partly objective

fact*

[52] In view of their admissions of overreachingsitcurious that at least some of
them denied in their affidavits that they had bdamonest, because overreaching

Is, by definition, dishonest.

[53] The court below was alive to that contradicti@and queried whether the
guilty pleas were admissions of dishonesty. Thparse of the advocates was that
they were not admitting dishonesty but had interidetieir pleas to admit only to
overcharging — which is not necessarily dishonesind not to overreaching.

Accepting those explanations the court said thiatrig the respondents the benefit

jasat v Natal Law Sociegt 51E-FKekana v Society of Advocates of South Afti@88 (4) SA 649 (SCA) at 654
D-F.
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of the doubt, in our view the plea should be readgailty to overcharging as
opposed to overreaching’. On that basis it saatl ‘the sole question that remains
at this stage was whether they acted honestly'.

[54] | ought to make it clear what the court meahen it said that ‘in our view
the plea should be read as guilty to overchargsm@@posed to overreaching'.
When seen in its context, and in relation to thesjon that was then under
consideration, the court meant only that it acagpbat the pleas of guilty by the
advocates concerned had been intended by them t@ldas of guilty to
overcharging. The court did not mean that it acagphat they were guilty only of
that offence. On the contrary, it is clear from thanner in which it then dealt with
the issue, and the findings that it then made, ithedncluded, in effect if not in
words, that their offences were indeed overreachimd)not merely overcharging.
For it found in each case that the advocates wetremtitled to charge fees at all,
and that in every case they had done so they had dcshonestly, and the court
dealt with the matter of sanction accordingly.

[55] On the second stage of the enquiry the higlrtcgaid that ‘it must consider
whether the person concerned ‘in the discretiothefcourt’ is not a fit and proper
person to continue to practise’. Its expressiornhef test was drawn from cases
dealing with attorneys and was not strictly corrdchave pointed out that the
words ‘in the discretion of the court’ do not appeathe Admission of Advocates
Act. Be that as it may, there was no dispute thay twere not fit and proper to

continue in practice.

[56] On appeal before us its findings on those tegs of the enquiry are not

controversial. The controversy is confined to thedtstage of the enquiry.
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[57] At the third stage of the enquiry the sanctibat should be imposed lies in
the discretion of the court. Where a discretiocasferred it implies that the matter
for decision has no single answer and calls fogment, upon which reasonable
people might disagree. That being so a court orapp restricted to determining
whether the decision-maker has correctly gone atbeuenquiry. If he or she has
correctly gone about the enquiry then a court ggeapmay not interfere with the

decision, albeit that it considers the decisiohgavrong.

[58] That restriction upon the power of a court itderfere on appeal was

expressed as follows Kekana v Society of Advocates of South Africa

‘[Alppellate interference with the trial Court’'s sdiretion is permissible on restricted grounds
only. In Beyers v Pretoria Balieraad966 (2) SA 593 (A) at 605F-HDlivier v Die Kaapse
Balieraad1972 (3) SA 485 (A) at 495D-F a8lvain v Society of Advocates, Nat8lr3 (4) SA
784 (A) at 786Had finthe grounds for interference are stated in shgtitiferent terms, but the
approach is essentially the one adopted in allratases where a Court of Appeal is called upon
to interfere with the exercise of a discretion, tiat interference is limited to cases in whicis it
found that the trial Court has exercised its digenecapriciously or upon a wrong principle, or
has not brought its unbiased judgment to bear emtlestion, or has not acted for substantial
reason. (SeBenson v SA Mutual Life Assurance Socl&§6 (1) SA 776 (A) at 7811-782A and

the cases referred to there.)’

[59] In Fine v Society of Advocates of SA (Witwatersrandisipin)'® it was

expressed differently, but to the same effect, wthercourt said that
‘the Appeal Court will only interfere with the ex#se of this discretion on the grounds of

material misdirection or irregularity, or becauke tdecision is one no reasonable Court could
make. (Sedlyembezi v Law Society, Nafél81 (2) SA 752 (A).)’

1°At 654E-H.
161983 (4) SA 488 (A) at 494H-495(A).
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[60] There are two enquiries to be made when esiaigia discretion. The first is
to establish the material facts. The second isvaduate those facts towards the
correct objective. The various grounds for intexfere referred to in the cases
merely identify the failures that might occur iratiprocess. Where the conclusion
arrived at has been actuated by bias, or is capscithere has been no evaluation
at all. Where the evaluation proceeds from incarfacts, or from an incorrect
appreciation of the law, or where a wrong princiglepplied, the evaluation has
gone in the wrong direction. As this court s&dv Pillay'’ which related to

criminal sentencing in which the same principlephap “misdirection” in the
present context simply means an error committethbyCourt in determining or

applying the facts for assessing the appropriateesee’.

[61] Misdirection of the enquiry might be reveal®gthe express language of the
reasoning, or by necessary inference from thatesgad reasoning, or by an
outrageous conclusion. For if the conclusion it eamis one that ‘no reasonable
court could maké® it can be inferred that somewhere along the lirmalst have
misdirected its enquiry, or acted with bias or beapricious, or acted upon a
wrong principle, notwithstanding the language incliht expresses its reasoning.
But in reasoning along those last lines a courttrbascareful not to cast itself as
the archetypal reasonable court, and reason freme tihat because its view of the
matter differs from that of the court below, thecid®n of that court is one that
could not reasonably have been made. The que&iontiwhether a reasonable
court could have reached a different conclusion,ifstead whether a reasonable

court could not have reached the conclusion trdidit

1S v Pillay1977 (4) SA 531 (A) at 535B.
8Fine v Society of Advocates of SIM94A-495A.
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[62] When analysing the language of the decisiokenat needs always to be
kept in mind that a judgment is generally writteninform the parties why they
have respectively won and lost and not only withege to an appeal. For that
reason a court of appeal should not scrutinizéathguage as if it was construing a
statute. In particular it must not be thought thapoint was overlooked only
because it was not expressly mentioned. As thistcmid inLepholletsa v &

which was an appeal against sentence, in whickahe principles apply:

‘Soos opgemerk in vorige uitsprake van hierdie fiedt ek nie nodig ag om aan te haal nie) dui
die blote versuim om 'n besonderefeit of aspekdiarsaak pertinent in 'n uitspraak te opper, nie

noodwendig daarop dat dit nie oorweeg is nie.’

[63] That is particularly relevant in the preseaseg, in which the papers were
voluminous and the case was argued over five dagsexpect that everything that
was taken into account by the court below wouldeappn its judgment would be

unrealistic. Indeed, some matters might have bescered, or argument on the
matter might not have been advanced, in which dasen be expected that the
court would not express itself on the issue, deast not do so fully. | think it is

also appropriate to bear in mind that in this ctee judges who comprised the
court below were themselves at one time senior @ates of long standing. That is
no reason to defer to their conclusions but ieeson to expect that they would not
always find it necessary to express themselves attens that would be trite to

those in the profession.

[64] | deal first with the GCB'’s appeal against thexision concerning the seven

advocates who were not struck off, and later | ade#h Bezuidenhout's appeal.

1911997] 3 All SA 113 (A) at 115F-G Also sé&v Pillay at 533B.
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The appeals of the remaining five advocates ardt ath in the judgment of
Ponnan JA, and | agree with his conclusions, asal &ith his reasons for reaching
them, supplemented by the views expressed in tldignent so far as they apply
generally to all the advocates.

[65] There is no suggestion by the GCB that thénlagurt proceeded from an
incorrect appreciation of the facts. Nor, obvioyglges it contest that the seven
advocates were not fit and proper to practice. &&H need to repeat that those
two stages of the enquiry were not contentious feefss and | do not find it
necessary to deal with them. Leaving aside tlegations by two of the advocates
that they perceived bias on the part of the on¢hefjudges — with which the
remaining advocates pertinently disassociated tees, and which have been
rightly rejected in the judgment of Ponnan JA —dbpeals were directed solely to
whether the court below properly exercised its rdson at the third stage of the

enquiry.

[66] There has been no suggestion of bias, northeatlecision was capricious.
The GCB submitted only that in various ways thertdelow misdirected its

enquiry.

[67] The end to which the court below conductedensjuiry was that stated in
Van der Berg v General Council of the B&which was reiterated iklalan:

‘The enquiry before a court that is called uporex@rcise its disciplinary powers is not what
constitutes an appropriate punishment for a passgression but rather what is required for the
protection of the public in the future. Some casédkrequire nothing less than the removal of

the advocate from the roll forthwith. In other case@here a court is satisfied that a period of

#yvan der Berg v General Council of the §an02] 2 All SA 499 (SCA) para 50.
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suspension will be sufficiently corrective to av@drecurrence, an order of suspension might
suffice.’

[68] | ought to mention that the court below quaxstid whether that case held
that the powers of a court in proceedings of tlaire are confined to striking off
or suspension, and rightly concluded that it hatl dame so. On a proper and
careful reading | think it will emerge that the eefnces to striking off and
suspension were illustrative of what was being.dadidal further with that subject

later in this judgment.

[69] It was said ifMalan that ‘if a court finds dishonesty, the circumseEsmomust
be exceptional before a court will order a suspmnsgistead of a removal’. That
does not purport to lay down a rule of law but egges what follows naturally
from a finding of dishonesty. Once an advocateehdmsbited dishonesty it might
be inferred that the dishonesty will recur and fleat reason he or she should
ordinarily be barred from practice. What was saifflalan means only that when
the person concerned has been shown to have b&®mndst a court will need to
be satisfied that the circumstances of the casesaoh that that inference,
exceptionally, need not be drawn, and thus tha&irsty off need not follow. In
Law Society, Cape v Petérthat exception was expressed by distinguishing a
‘character defect’ from a ‘moral lapse’. It is atehat the court below was alive to
that distinction and directed its enquiry to whetligese cases were indeed the

exception.

[70] Once having proceeded from a correct appneciaif the facts, and having

directed its enquiry towards answering the corppastion, it is difficult to see

2L aw Society, Cape v Pet2009 (2) SA 18 (SCA) para 16. See, thlalan’s case, para 28.
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how it can be said that the court’s enquiry in tbése was misdirected. Upon
proper analysis it seems to me that the complaihtee GCB and Bezuidenhout
are no more than that the court ought to have ateduthe facts differently, which

IS not a ground upon which this court may interferh its decision.

[71] In going about its evaluation the court belonilected together various
factors that it categorised collectively as ‘exaamdl circumstances’, others that it
called ‘aggravating circumstances’, and some thaaid were ‘mitigating’. | do

not think that undue store should be placed upan ulse of language, which is
more appropriate to evaluating sentence in a cahaase. | think it is clear from a
fair reading of the judgment as a whole that whatalled ‘exceptional’ and

‘mitigating’ circumstances were simply those fastthat the court considered, in
different degrees, to militate against striking ,ofind those that it called

‘aggravating circumstances’ were factors that fagdustriking off*2

[72] The approach of the GCB was to isolate somtta@de factors and take issue
with their characterisation. Thus it submitted thiatvas not an ‘exceptional
circumstance’ that the advocates had complied thighsanctions imposed by the
Bar Council, nor was it an ‘exceptional circumsknihat the judges calling the
roll had ‘shut their eyes to the insidious practafedouble briefing’ (the words
used by the court below). Nor was it an ‘exceptiam@umstance’ that members
of the Pretoria bar, including members of the Bawuil, were aware of the
practice of double briefing and had not acted td @ It was also not an
‘exceptional circumstance’ that the advocates hadtged professionally from the
time they had admitted their transgressions to time of the hearing of the

applications. In the same vein it was submitted tiha court ought to have treated

Malan v Law Society Northern Provinggmra 28.
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the fact that the advocates had not disclosedlslafitransgressions committed
outside the period for which they were chargedra&ggravating circumstance’.

(So far as that submission is concerned it is tiha¢ the duty of an advocate in a
disciplinary enquiry is to be frank and co-operatitput | do not think that means
that he must necessarily insist that the Bar Coueceive information that it

knows to exist but shows no interest in havingthlis case the advocates readily
admitted that they had transgressed outside the gieniod being investigated and
neither the Society nor the GCB took the mattethfer: | cannot see how they can
then be criticised for not pressing the matter thelaes. That is also how the court

below saw the matter and in my view it cannot hadtéal.)

[73] | think | have already indicated that to askether a ‘circumstance’ of the
case in isolation is ‘exceptional’ is not the proppproach to cases of this kind.
The proper approach is instead to ask whetheritbensstances as a whole reveal
that the case the court has before it is an exaegtom those in which it can

ordinarily be inferred that the dishonesty will weand should thus be met with
striking off. To debate whether a particular factsra ‘circumstance’ that is

‘exceptional’ — or ‘mitigating’ or ‘aggravating’ feads the enquiry astray. Going
behind the inapt language used in the judgmenteaadhining instead the line of

reasoning that it reveals — which | think one mdstwhere the judgment is no
model of linguistic exactness or elegance, asimdhse — | find the judgment to
reveal clearly that that is indeed how the coudltdeith the matter.

[74] The question that fell for decision was whethgon an evaluation of all the
material circumstances, which include ‘the natuiréhe conduct complained of,
the extent to which it reflects upon the persortisracter or shows him to be

unworthy to remain in the ranks of an honourablefgasion, the likelihood or
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otherwise of a repetition of such conduct and teednto protect the publié the
advocate should be barred from continuing to psactiThe manner in which the
court applied the various factors reflects thatahsidered some to point in one
direction and others to point in the other directiand it evaluated each case
accordingly. That is precisely what a proper eserof its discretion required.
What each of those various factors was called seemse to be neither here nor

there.

[75] Stripped of terminological niceties the subsiosis advanced for the GCB
amount to no more than a challenge to the weighaak of it, that the court below
accorded to the various factors it placed in tladesc It was the prerogative of that
court to determine what factors should weigh witlone way or another — and
even whether no weight should be attached to aeyadrthem at all — and how
they should be weighed relative to one another.is Tourt is not entitled to

interfere only because it might have seen thinfjeréintly.

[76] The GCB also placed in issue the approachttigtourt took to factors that
were said in individual cases to have ‘mitigateldé tconduct of the advocate
concerned. Thus the court considered it to be gaitng’ that some had practised
for many years with no blemish to their names, #watl some were said not to have
been motivated by ‘greed’'— a rather imprecise tarmthe context of the
profession. Once again | think it is clear, wheswed in context, that what was
meant was only that those factors, in varying degrendicated that the case was
one in which it could be expected that the dishtynesuld not recur, which it was

the prerogative of that court to decide.

% Malan's case above, para 5, citif@sats case'.
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[77] There are two further matters that | find écessary to deal with. The first
concerns the orders that were made by the counmtefmyment of money to the
Fund. The GCB submitted that those orders wereowipetent in relation to the
advocates who were struck off the roll and | ag@ece the court struck them
from the roll its disciplinary powers over them werxhausted. In relation to the
other advocates it submitted that it was competamd, those advocates do not
suggest the contrary, but | find it necessary % samething about those orders

nonetheless.

[78] The Act is directed to regulating who may pise in the courts. In effect it
provides that a court may permit a person to daasd,it may also withdraw that
permission, whether permanently by striking off,temporarily by suspension. It
does not purport to say anything about the powkesamurt to exercise discipline
over practitioners while they enjoy the right tagrse. | agree with the court
below that a court has an inherent power to dasdhis court, and other courts,
have said befor&. That it has its roots in antiquity, and that welonger employ
the disciplinary remedies of earlier times, seemm#to be neither here nor there.
| see no reason why that inherent power does nohip& court to order a
practitioner to repay moneys as a condition fottierr practice.

[79] The second matter | find it necessary to aetth concerns only Geach SC.
The Value Added Tax Act 89 of 1991 requires eveseyspn who carries on an
enterprise to be registered as a vendor. In fidaait the GCB said that in the
course of the investigation into his affairs it hamerged that Geach SC had not

registered as a vendor, although he had been dbligedo so, and that was

#De Villiers v Mcintyre, N.O1921 AD 425 at 428 and 43%;aw Society of the Cape HopeC 1986 (1) SA 616
(A) 638C-E;Society of Advocates of Natal v K854 (2) SA 246 (N) 247 G-H.
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admitted. Having said that, the GCB moved on, ad sothing further on the
matter. The fact was mentioned, but not elaborapexh, by the court below. The
GCB mentioned in its heads of argument before uanaact of misconduct, but
made nothing more of it. The matter was raised frioenbench.

[80] By failing to register Geach SC committed dfece. It can be expected
also to have resulted in loss to the revenue ait®of VAT that he should have
charged. The court below must have been awareogttbrdinary consequences. |
see no reason to infer, merely from the absenetabbration, that it failed to take
them into account, particularly if the GCB madeissue of it in argument, just as

it made no issue of it in this court.

[81] Turning to the appeal of Bezuidenhout, unltke seven advocates | have
dealt with, he was un-cooperative, even obstructivdealing with the allegations

against him. He denied the evidence of Ellis S& #t first he ‘flatly refused’ to

produce his records but that denial can be sumyndisimissed. He was one of
those who claimed their right to privacy when tihecame aware that the Bar
Council was once more in search of their booksctis hardly consistent with an
intention to disclose his books. Moreover, the tda@iow recorded that he failed
to comply with a request by the Bar Council to plaertain of his records before
the court. When he was compelled to do so by thetdhey reflected that his

transgressions were continuing, obliging the ctudrder his suspension until the

outcome of the application.

[82] No misdirection has been demonstrated so $atha striking off order is
concerned, but on another issue the appeal hat mieave already said the GCB

conceded that the court below was not entitleda&eran order for the payment of
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money to the Fund in the case of those who wetelstoff, and | agree. That

order must be set aside.

[83] One might pick away at this part of the judgmend then at that part, but |
think that, when looked at overall and from afarcannot be said that the court
below misdirected its enquiry. It went about itthe correct facts, and on a correct
construction of the law, and the rest fell withis discretion. Perhaps the acid test
iIs whether its conclusions could not have beenhe@ddy a reasonable court.

Whether or not | agree with them | don’t think thean be said to be unreasonable.

[84] So far as the costs of the appeal of the G@8B @ncerned the seven
advocates have succeeded in resisting it, and wardidarily be entitled to their

costs. On this occasion, however, | do not thivdt tvould be apposite. The GCB
was justified in bringing the matters on appeapiatection of the standing of the
profession. | think the advocates concerned shautdr the costs they have
brought upon the GCB and the Society. Bezuidenhastfailed in his appeal and
there is no reason why he should not be liabletlier costs occasioned by his
appeal. Punitive costs were ordered in the coeldvin The manner in which the
appeals were conducted does not further punitigscdhe same applies to the
other appellants. As to the division of the costdween the appeals, that is a

matter that can be left to the taxing masterlieitomes necessary.

[85] Mr Epstein SC and Mr Bester have acted for @B at no charge, for

which we commend them, and express our appreci&iotheir assistance, and
the assistance of their two juniors. The two jusjavhose assistance was justified,
cannot similarly be expected to have acted witleotuneration. For that reason

the costs should include the costs of two counsel.
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[86] For the reasons given in this judgment and dfidonnan JA the following

orders are made:

1. The appeal of the General Council of the Badignissed. The first to
seventh respondents in that appeal are to pay dkts ©f the General
Council of the Bar and those of the Pretoria SgctdtAdvocates, jointly

and severally, which are to include the costs af taunsel.

2. The orders for repayment of moneys made agtnasippellant advocates in
appeals 273/12, 281/12, 280/12, 275/12, 274/12 248112 are set aside.
That apart, their appeals are dismissed, in eas@ wéth costs that include

the costs of two counsel.

R W NUGENT
JUDGE OF APPEAL

PONNAN JA (MPATI P and NUGENT JA CONCURRING):

[87] ‘The first thing we do, let’s kill all the layers’ is Dick the Butcher’'s
exhortation in Henry VI to Jack Cade - ‘the headaof army of rabble and a
demagogue pandering to the ignorant’. That oft misustood phrase was William
Shakespeare’s homage to lawyers as the primaryndefe of democracy.
Through it, The Bard recognised that for tyranng anarchy to flourish, the law
and all those who were sworn to uphold it had tet fbe eliminated. Lawyers,

because of the adversarial nature of litigationthis country, will never be
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universally loved by the public. That is not to gagt that as members of a
distinguished and venerable profession they do comupy a very important
position in our society. After all they are the bkaaries of a rich heritage and the
mantle of responsibility that they bear as the gutuirs of our hard won freedoms
Is without parallel. As officers of our courts lagrg play a vital role in upholding
the Constitution and ensuring that our system afige is both efficient and
effective. It therefore stands to reason that altsolpersonal integrity and
scrupulous honesty are demanded of each of fAénfollows that generally a
practitioner who is found to be dishonest shouldhiea absence of exceptional

circumstances expect to have his name struck fnemail 2°

[88] As Nugent JA has intimated this judgment dedth the appeals of the five
advocate¥ who contend that they ought not to have been lstftam the roll.
Each application, although part of the series gdliagtions by the Pretoria Bar
against various members, fell to be adjudicatechumown facts. That the high
court did. As is evident from the judgment of mgrieed Brother none of the five
contest the factual findings of the court belowtlee finding that they are not fit
and proper persons to continue to practise. Na@edéims to me, could they have.
Rather what they seek to achieve is to persuadleatishey have been treated too
harshly. | am by no means satisfied that such aegisnas were advanced on
behalf of each of the five brings the matter withine compass of any of the
recognised grounds for interfererféeOn the contrary as | shall show with
reference to each of the five a striking off wasoWshjustified. It is so that at first

blush they appear to have been treated more harslaiive to their colleagues

®Kekana v Society of Advocates of South Aft@98 (4) SA 649 (SCA) at 656A.
“Malan v Law Society, Northern Provinc2809 (1) SA 216 (SCA) para 10.
“Pillay, Botha, De Klerk, Leopeng and Mogagabe.

#3ee paras 58-61 of the judgment of Nugent JA.
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who were suspended. But on closer examinationithabt so. In my view the

disparity in treatment between them and those whoevsuspended was plainly
justified. The high court was alive to the taskttb@nfronted it. It appreciated that
the enquiry with which it was engaged was ‘whateiguired for the protection of
the public in the futuré® And that in embarking upon that enquiry the vasiou
transgressions of the advocates were not to beedaw isolation but that their

conduct was to be viewed holistically. In that melyne high court explained why

it plumped for a striking off as opposed to a saspm, thus:
'In the case of contraventions after the notic®fOctober 2009, unexplained fiddling with
hours, mendacious explanations to the Court andoggat numbers of transgressions the scale

swung to striking off.’

[89] Before turning to a consideration of the indival appeals of the five, it is
necessary first to dispose of a contention advabo#dbefore this court on appeal
as also the high court at the application for ledaweappeal stage of the
proceedings, that Van Dijkhorst AJ ought not toeéhast in the matter because the
parties (or more accurately some of them) entexthia reasonable apprehension
that he had not brought an impartial and unpregdalimind to bear on the matter.
According to Pillay, after judgment was handed domvthe matter but prior to the
application for leave to appeal being heard, astapt of the minutes of the
meeting of the Pretoria Bar Council held on 17 Nolrer 2009 came to hand. In it
W Maritz SC, who was the pro forma prosecutor keetbe disciplinary enquiry, is
recorded as having informed the meeting that Vgkhbdrst AJ had expressed the
view that ‘anyone who takes two briefs for the satag should be nailed’. Pillay
alleges that that utterance, which only came toakisntion after the matter had
been heard, has led him to believe that the leafnede had failed to bring an

#Van der Berg v General Council of the Bar of[8807] 2 All SA 499 (SCA) para 50.
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open and impartial mind to the resolution of the@sjion involved in the matter
before the court and that he should accordinglyehdigqualified himself from
sitting. His failure to recuse himself, so it wassearted, vitiated the entire
proceedings. Whilst some of the other advocate<ifspmly disavowed any
suggestion of bias, there was as well an alter@argument advanced on behalf of
Botha that did not conclude with a request thatehre proceedings before the
Courta quoshould be set aside. Instead it was submittediti@imuch as Van
Dijkhorst AJ had failed to bring an unbiased judgii® bear on the issu#élan
para 13), that part of the Cowatquo'sorder, which required the exercise of a
discretion, namely a striking off as opposed tsuapension, fell to be set aside.
The consequence of that, so the argument wertaighis court would be at large
to reconsider the issue, untrammelled by any camstimposed by the exercise of

a discretion by the Couat qua

[90] Actual bias was not asserted, rather it isgad that there is an appearance
of bias. As it was put by Centlivres CIJRv Milne and Erleigh{6)1951 (1) SA 1
(A) at 6H: * . . . there can be no doubt that fualge, who ought not, because he is
biased, to preside at a criminal trial, nevertheldeses so he commits . . . an
irregularity in the proceedings every minute he asra on the Bench during the
trial of the accused.’ It matters not that here ¢beplaint is levelled against just
one of a panel of three judges. For, if a Judgernectly refuses to recuse himself
the remaining members should not sit with that éualg the proceeding would be
irregular President of the RSA v South African Rugby Footlaibn 1999 (4) SA
147 (CC) Garfu) para 32). InSarfupara 48, the Constitutional Court formulated

the proper approach to recusal as follows:

‘The question is whether a reasonable, objectivkiaformed person would on the correct facts

reasonably apprehend that the Judge has not onatilbring an impartial mind to bear on the
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adjudication of the case, that is a mind open tsysesion by the evidence and the submissions
of counsel. The reasonableness of the apprehensigh be assessed in the light of the oath of
office taken by the Judges to administer justictheut fear or favour, and their ability to carry
out that oath by reason of their training and elgmee. It must be assumed that they can
disabuse their minds of any irrelevant personalefslbr predispositions. They must take into
account the fact that they have a duty to sit in @se in which they are not obliged to recuse
themselves. At the same time, it must never beotteg that an impartial Judge is a fundamental
prerequisite for a fair trial and a judicial offrcghould not hesitate to recuse herself or hinigelf
there are reasonable grounds on the part of aritipr apprehending that the judicial officer,

for whatever reasons, was not or will not be impatt

[91] The test thus contains a two-fold objectiveneént — the person considering
the alleged bias must be reasonable, and the apmmien of bias itself must also
be reasonable in the circumstances of the Gadupara 45). It follows that mere
apprehensiveness on the part of a litigant — evetrangly and honestly held
anxiety — would not be enough. The question tam®vered is: ‘what would an
informed person, viewing the matter realisticallydapractically — and having
thought the matter through — conclud®Applying those principles to the facts
here present | am by no means satisfied that tHg fagh threshold set by the test
has been surpassed. The gist of the complaint eppede that the robust tone
with which the learned Judge expressed himself avduhve instilled in a
reasonable litigant in the position of Pillay aseaable apprehension that he was
biased against him. It is so that he appears te leapressed himself in a strong
and perhaps even emphatic fashion. But had Vanh®igt AJ employed a less
emotive word such as ‘punished’ instead of ‘nailédat could hardly have
provoked any feelings of disquiet. Counsel was traimed to concede as much.

After all it needs to be remembered that disqualifon flows from a reasonable

¥per De Grandpré’ J iBommittee for Justice and Liberty et al v NatioBakrgy Board1976) 68 DLR (3d) 716 at
735; Sarfupara 45.
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apprehension that the judicial officer will not dx the case impartially and
without prejudice, rather than that he will dectiie case adversely to the one

party

[92] It must be remembered as well that by the tiheematter came to be heard
in the court below the issues of fact, which wem m dispute since the
transgressions had first surfaced, had long sinesatdlised. To that must be added
a further important consideration: the reasonaitigaht through whose eyes the
appearance of bias must be assessed, is in tih@noasa trained lawyer, who no
doubt must have a proper appreciation of what jatimpartiality truly entails. In
SA Commercial Catering & Allied workers Union v | &Ltd 2000 (3) SA 705
(CC) para 13, the Constitutional Court elaborakecst

"The second in-built aspect of the test is thastélte neutrality” is something of a chimera in
the judicial context. This is because Judges anednu They are unavoidably the product of their
own life experiences and the perspective thus ddrimevitably and distinctively informs each
Judge's performance of his or her judicial duti®st colourless neutrality stands in contrast to
judicial impartiality — a distinction th8arfudecision itself vividly illustrates. Impartialitg that
guality of open-minded readiness to persuasiontkont unfitting adherence to either party or to
the Judge's own predilections, preconceptions amdopal views — that is the keystone of a
civilised system of adjudication. Impartiality rems, in short, "a mind open to persuasion by
the evidence and the submissions of counsel”; mndontrast to neutrality, this is an absolute

requirement in every judicial proceeding.

[93] A reasonable litigant in the position of Pylles expected to be mindful that
in applying the test Courts have recognised a pnpsion that judicial officers are

impartial in adjudicating disputes. This is becauJselges on account of their

*n Re JRL: Ex Parte CJ(1986) 161 CLR 342 (HCA) at 35%arfupara 46.
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training are assumed to be capable of judgingyfaifhe presumption carries
considerable weight. Thus reviewing courts are galye hesitant to make a
finding of bias or to perceive a reasonable apprsioa of bias on the part of a
Judge, in the absence of convincing evidence todffiact. (Seesarfu paras40-
42.) It goes without saying that an unfounded aeasonable apprehension is not
a justifiable basis for recusal. The apprehensioth® reasonable person must of
necessity be assessed in the light of the trues.f&me cannot ignore from the
reckoning that prior to the commencement of theihgaof the matter, the learned
Judge despatched a note to the parties, the relpaeron of which read:

‘Die volgende inligting word bekend gemaak aangaamyself. Ek het begin om kennis te dra
van die gevalle (sonder detail van afsonderlikeepate Quintus Pelser SC my geraadpleeg het
oor die vraag of dubbelbrevettering in die sake d# Fonds op onprofessionele gedrag
neerkom. My uitgesproke mening was dat dit is einditahomvrystaan om die inligting oor te
dra aan die Balieraad. Ek het geen kennis gedradieanerdure verloop van sake nie en later
verneem dat die sake afgehandel is en strawwe bépam dat die geval van adv French
Bezuidenhoutoorstaan. Ek het my nooit uitgelaat dergepastheid van die strawwe nie. Adv
Quintus Pelser SC het my op ‘n latere stadium getdit gepas sou wees as die Balieraad die
sake aan die Hof voorlé sonder ‘n sanksie te biefil&ihet hom meegedeel dat dit kan.Dit is die
omvang van my betrokkenheid na die beste van miprening.

Indien die vraag of die optrede op onprofessiogel@rag neerkom, tersprake is, kan ek nie sit
nie. Waar die betrokkenesegterskuldigge pleit Imebleot die sanksie ter sprake is, is hierdie
Bank van mening dat ek kan sit. U word versoek amndo 7 dae enige beswaar wat u mag hé,
voor te |é vir oorweging'.

Van Dijkhorst AJ had thus disclosed of his own tofi that he had engaged in
discussions with members of the Pretoria Bar. Tdrtigs were invited to intimate
whether any of them had any objections to himrgjtin the matter. None of them

did.
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[94] Nor can one lose sight of the fact that whiea allegation first surfaced at
the application for leave to appeal stage, Van haifkt AJ availed himself of the
opportunity to place the following on record:

‘The note refers to two discussions. In the firsivds consulted about the question whether
double briefing in the matters of the RAF cons&titunprofessional conduct. | expressed the
view that it was and that this could be conveyeth®wBar Council. From the context it is clear
that this was before the disciplinary hearingshef Bar Council. | was not involved at all in the
hearings or in Maritz SC’s preparation, therefarePelser SC’s role therein, if any, and did not
know what the outcome was till much later.

The second discussion was much later. After theifgsaand when it was being considered by
the Bar Council to bring an application to CourheTadvice was that the Bar could put the
matters before Court without pleading a specifiecian. The facts disclosed in the notes were
communicated to all respondents. | stated thahef dispute was whether the actions of the
respondents amounted to unprofessional conduatltigmt sit as the respondents had pleaded

guilty and it was merely a matter of sanction. Beech held the view that | could.’

[95] It follows that when assessed in the lighabithe true facts, if Pillay indeed
apprehended that Van Dijkhorst AJ would not bringrapartial and unprejudiced
mind to the adjudication of the matter, that appredion was unreasonable, and

the submission that he ought to have recused Hims&lthout merit.

[96] That clears the way for a consideration of thiee the high court erred in the
exercise of its discretion in respect of each df¥i Botha, De Klerk, Leopeng

and Mogagabe.

Pillay
[97] The high court stated:
"The number of charges he faced and the amountalmedy [R268 800.00] [out of the

commission of the offences] is on the lower endhefscale compared to the other respondents.
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Had it not been for two other matters we would havall probability suspended him from

practice'.

The two matters that the court had in mind wernest,fithat he had invoiced for

work done for the same periods in respect of dffiebriefs; and, second, that he

had lied to a Judge.

[98] As to the first An examination of Pillay's books revealed that toro
occasions, in addition to marking a fee on trial,charged for as many as 18 or 19
hours of consultations per day. On a third day herged for a total of 20%2 hours
of consultations. In many instances the fee naibmgted by him reflected him to
have consulted in more than one matter at the esaaoe time. His answer in a

supplementary affidavit filed in reply to thoseeglations was:

'I confirm that the errors in respect of the ovepiag hours are due to my inaccurate and

deficient recordkeeping'.

[99] As to the secondThe gist of the complaint may be gleaned froro Ietters.

The first was written by Mojapelo DJP to the Prigt@ar. It reads:

‘On the day in question the matter of Mr Pillay waieod down at the first roll call at 09:30 in
Johannesburg while he was as it was put to thet,cdelayed on the N1 motorway travelling
from Pretoria.

When counsel finally appeared in the Johannesbugh KCourt at 12:00, the court was
suspicious that he might have appeared first inPiregoria High Court. In response to a direct
enquiry from the court, Mr Pillay denied having epped in the Pretoria High Court before
coming to the Johannesburg High Court. As Mr Pidaanswer appeared somewhat muffled, the
guestion was reiterated and Mr Pillay's responsg avaunequivocal denial. He unequivocally
denied having appeared in the Pretoria High Chatt torning.

Later that same day | phoned my colleague, the Hi@aide Mr Justice van der Merwe, who was
by then the Acting Deputy Judge President in chasfehe trial roll in Pretoria. And he

confirmed that Mr Pillay had appeared in that ctl@t very same morning.
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It was in the wake of the developments sketchedabimat | confronted Mr Pillay and requested

him to report his conduct to the Professional atidd8 Committee in Pretoria.’

In the second letter, which was written (as alrealiyded to) at the request of
Mojapelo DJP, Pillay informed the Pretoria Bar:

‘During the conversation between Justice Mojapeld ayself, | gained the impression that
Justice Mojapelo had suggested that the reason thas$ late was that Advocate Bezuidenhout
and | may have had a case together in the TranBvauinical Division. This was not the case. |
believe that Advocate Bezuidenhout from Pretorig imave been late as well. | believe that Mr
Justice Mojapelo had also suggested that | may hpgeared at the calling of the roll for a trial
in Pretoria separately from Mr Bezuidenhout. | @onfthat my answers to Mr Justice
Mojapelo’s questioning on my belatedness, was enutiderstanding that the presumption that
he was and the presumption that he was suggestatgMr Bezuidenhout and | had a case
against each other in the Transvaal Provincial $dwi and that therefore we were both late for
the calling of the roll in the WLD. | wish to pla@m record that | in no way sought to mislead

the court or Justice Mojapelo.’

[100] Pillay was the only one of the advocatesettity before the high court. He
was afforded an opportunity to deal with those agpects. In respect of the first

he told the court:

'My Lord | submit to you with respect that all theurs which | debited | worked. Those invoices
are as a result of the fact that I tried to reanastthese hours at a time much later than | warked
When | made those notes | didn't keep proper racofdhe time, the hours. | would write one

hour or two hours for reading and then | would khokay | thought | read it on Sunday or

Monday between this time and that time ... thanigroper and it is a mistake ...".

And in respect of the second his evidence went thus

‘This is then the correspondence which we have fittwn correspondence it appears that
according to you, you denied having appeared agMnBezuidenhout in Pretoria and that is
how you understand the question. Judge Mojapelwenssthat by saying, | asked him directly
whether he had appeared in the Pretoria High Gmaidre coming to Johannesburg, he denied it,

the question was reiterated and he responded witbngquivocal denial. He unequivocally
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denied having appeared in the Pretoria High Ctatt inorning. Now, do you admit or deny this
statement by the Deputy Judge President Mojapeld?le not deny it.

You do not deny it? --- No

So, what happened is, you were confronted by Jldgg@pelo because you did not
attend the roll call. You were asked why you did attend and you were asked why you had
appeared or whether you had appeared in the Raefourt. You denied that you had appeared
in the Pretoria Court, whereas you in fact had apzein the Pretoria Court. So this is then the
fact? --- What had happened was, at the time tsticé Mojapelo asked me why | was late, |
started to explain the circumstances of the morriragn the morning. He then started
suggesting, because | told him that my daughtersi@dsand as a result of her being ill, | could
not make it for 09:30 and then he suggested yes, Nt Bezuidenhout, did you have a case
against Mr Bezuidenhout and the conversation wémgathose lines. | did not pay proper
attention to him and | did not and that is a grawstake on my part. But | was, you now
answered that question, | was under the impresgiah he was still referring to that Mr
Bezuidenhout and | were in Pretoria and we had s @gainst each other, that is, | was
completely flustered that morning because of trents/of that morning. | had no reason to lie to
him, I with hindsight, | should have clarified lgsestion, | should have said to him, Judge, | was
in Pretoria on my own, but | was not there with BEzuidenhout, that is a mistake | made. It
was a grave mistake.

Mr Pillay you were, if you were completely fluster on the 26 August, when this
happened, you surely were not still completelytéusd on 9 September when you wrote this
letter? --- No.

Which is in conflict with what Judge Mojapelo sarsd you say that Judge Mojapelo is
right, why then did you write a letter which is ekgatory and which is incorrect? --- M’Lord,
the letter simply seeks to convey my state of nahthe time. All it seeks to convey is at that
time when | made that answer, my state of mind.stéye of mind was, | was completely under
pressure because my daughter was sick, | was dat¢hé calling of the roll, | was under
tremendous pressure because there was a suggégimnthe impression that Judge Mojapelo
was suggesting that | was in court on a trial ietéta with Mr Bezuidenhout and that is why |
was late and | only wanted to convey my state afdvand to convey to the judge that | did not

do anything intentionally.
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Mr Pillay, you are now under oath? --- Yes.

With hindsight, looking at your letter of 9 Septaen which | read out in full, are those
facts correct or are they incorrect? --- They angect and | should have gone further to say that
| should have paid proper attention to Judge Md@peguestion, | should have answered, |
should have enquired exactly what he wanted ahduld not just have made the assumption.

Do you admit that your letter is in conflict withe letter of Judge Mojapelo? --- M’Lord,

I do not know it is in conflict in so far as itphly tried to tell my state of mind. | wanted tov@i
the impression that this is what | was going thtoagthe time.

Did you attend roll call in Pretoria? --- Yes,itld

Did you deny when Judge Mojapelo asked you, whetbe had appeared in the Pretoria
High Court that morning, did you deny that you laggeared there? --- M’Lord, my recollection
of the matter was, that question followed a suggesthat Mr Bezuidenhout and | appeared
together on a trial and | said no. | remember gayim and | should have with hindsight, | should
have said, M’Lord no, | did not appear with Mr Badenhout in a trial but if Your Lordship, is
asking me whether | appeared on my own, to conéirrost order in a settled matter, | did
appear according to the roll. It is a grave, graxer, | did not pay proper attention and it is a

grave error.’

[101] The high court, quite correctly in my viewsblelieved Pillay. It concluded:

"It is overwhelmingly probable that Pillay did nebrk the hours which he recorded and that he
falsely represented to the clients that he in thdtconsult for the recorded number of hours.

This is nothing less that fraud

'We have no hesitation in disbelieving Pillay ammhduding that he deliberately lied to the
judge.’

Botha
[102] By the time the application came to be heardthe high court an
investigation had been conducted in respect of @sthccounting records, which

revealed that he had, inter alia, on diverse oooastharged for more hours than
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there were in the day. By way of example on 11 A1@009 he charged for four
court appearances, a settlement at the RAF tanff aeventeen hours of
preparation. On 12 August 2009 he charged for trnaistand 27 hours of

preparation. On 26 August 2009 he charged for tlomet appearances and 33

hours of inspections in loco, consultations angaration.

[103] In an affidavit filed in response to thoskeghtions he states:

'3.4 My secretary, Mariétte Munik, would, on redegs each brief, automatically insert a
worksheet. She would then contact the other sistabbsh precisely who was dealing
with the matter on the other side (usually counseietimes attorney), and insert his or
her detail on the worksheet. | would then, as pared, consult etc, note my times on the
worksheet. | unfortunately always noted times, it dates, of my work. From leading
other counsel and tallying times with them, | haeee to see that this is a failing of
many advocates. | am thus far from alone in thiakmess.

3.5  On finalisation, | would hand the brief overrtty secretary, who would make up the
account on the strength of the worksheet. The ctengurogramme which generates my
invoices will not accept an amount in the horizbet@lumn without a date having been
inserted. My secretary as a matter of rote insedgds prior to the trial date, to enable
her to complete the invoice. In the nature of thindpese dates might or might not be
correct. | accept that the result could be a miligninvoice, but not materially so,
because the important fact would be that the wask @one, and not the exact date on

which it was done.'

[104] The high court held:

'‘Botha’s explanation is unconvincing. It amountshis: though each invoice sets out a specific
date or dates when work was done, these do netctefie truth. One cannot determine what the
truth is. There is no attempt to rearrange thermédion to prove that when all is properly set
out, there has been no overcharging. One would kapected such an attempt to be made in
view of the seriousness of the prima facie facts.nferely say that it is all due to erroneous

bookkeeping is not in these circumstances an agokepanswer. It indicates that knowingly over
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a long period he gave incorrect information todtierneys. This detracts from his integrity. It is
probable that Botha did not work the hours thatdeerded and that he falsely represented to the
attorneys that he did in fact consult or preparetie recorded number of hours. This is nothing
less than fraud.'

[105] What, moreover, weighed with the high couaswhe fact that even after the
investigation into his conduct had commenced, Bo#sthe high court put it
'‘brazenly continued with his contraventions'. Heoadingly, so the high court
stated 'displayed a persistent violation of the Rales and a contemptuous

attitude thereto', which it found to be 'seriousfygravating'.

De Klerk
[106] De Klerk took the view that his conduct wasd proscribed by the Uniform

Rules of Professional Ethics. Thus in his answeaiffigavit he stated:

'12.1 | deny that the logical correlative of thecsdled "cab rank rule" is the rule which
prevents counsel from taking on more than one lri@f per day. | am not aware that the
alleged "logical correlative™ has become knownhasrtile against "double briefing".

12.2 | have perused the whole of the Rule BoolefRretoria Society of Advocates, the only
reference to the words "double briefing" may benfibin the Section B2 as a heading and
the general circular of the Pretoria Society of Aciktes dated 1 November 2006 in
which certain "guidelines” were laid down.
The aforesaid general circular only became pathef'new" Rule Book distributed to
members in the form of a clip file that allowed tbe substitution of pages. The "new
"Rule Book in this form was distributed to membeéusing the course of June 2009.

12.3 | only became aware of the existence of tiek ganeral circular between 23 November

2009 and 26 November 2009.’
The high court found that it was 'most unlikely ttli2e Klerk would not have

known about [the circular] given that it would @nly have been a great talking

point amongst advocates at the Pretoria Bar'. piressed puzzlement at the
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emphasis placed by De Klerk on receipt of the tarcas in its view every
advocate knows that there is a rule against dduiéing. Accordingly, so it held,
if De Klerk did not know that, he was not fit to be the roll of advocates.

[107] A recurring theme throughout De Klerk’s answvg affidavit was a denial

of any wrongdoing. He thus asserted:
'47.1 ...l held the view at the investigationetngg/disciplinary proceedings that:

47.1.1 | never acted improper[ly] towards a client,
47.1.2 | never acted surreptitiously;
47.1.3 | had not overcharged my client or had abérgnproper fees for the work done by

myself.'

'50.1 | deny that the misconduct of which | hadrbfseind guilty was motivated by greed.’
Continuing to protest his innocence was at oddaghawith him having pleaded

guilty before the disciplinary committee. He, howevexplained that he felt
compelled to plead guilty before the disciplinaryqeiry because of the
interpretation placed by the Ellis circular on tiude. The high court held that it
was evident from De Klerk's affidavit that he hdwbwn no remorse or contrition

as he did not genuinely believe that he had domagvr

[108] Despite his plea of guilty to overreachinddve the disciplinary committee,
De Klerk subsequently sought to protest his innoeeihe high court dealt with

that contention thus:

'De Klerk's argument that he as a result did netr@ach is wrong. The flaw in the argument is
that De Klerk approaches the raising of fees omletic basis instead of a case by case basis.
The fact that the RAF was in each instance hisiglidoes not mean that when he raises a fee,

that fee need not be appropriate with regard tegeeific matter to which that fee pertains.



52

De Klerk's explanation rings especially hollow whame has regard to certain of the days in
respect of which he confessed breaches of the.rH@sinstance, on 2 September 2009 he
accepted and charged for seven matters on trisl.simply impossible for one person to accept
instructions in seven matters to take them to omathe same day. Furthermore, had he (and this
is not his version) accepted some of these instngton settlement, he has dishonestly and

fraudulently charged a trial fee instead of a feesettlement.’

[109] The additional considerations that weighethwhe high court were: First,
De Klerk initially adopted the attitude that he Wwbwot submit his books of
account to the scrutiny of the Professional andcEtiCommittee of the Pretoria
Bar. Second, when he appeared before the Vorswgidlinary Committee, De
Klerk requested that he be expelled from the Pieetdar so that he could set up
practice as an independent advocate untrammellédeb$ociety's rules. Third, on
26 March 2012 and after being summoned to appdaredthe Vorster Committee,
he tendered his resignation from the Pretoria Bae Bar Council declined to
accept his resignation. Despite the fact that ésgnation was not accepted, he
vacated his chambers on Saturday 1 May 2010. FdoehKlerk had continued, as
the high court put it, in contemptuous disregardtre Ellis circular, with his
pattern of multiple briefing and did so on no l#san 17 occasions on nine court

days during November 20009.

Leopeng

[110] The high court took the view that Leopeng veae of the more serious
offenders, with the number of charges that he fdoeithg surpassed only by
Mogagabe and Bezuidenhout. For the period Febrt@mm@ctober 2008 he had
accepted in excess of 300 additional briefs. Ferrttonths of February, March,

April and May 2009 and prior to the rolls havingcbme congested, which only
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occurred during July, Leopeng accepted 23, 25, B 38 additional briefs per
month, respectively.

[111] Despite having been made aware of the fatttie Professional and Ethics
Committee was investigating him and had called H& books, his conduct
continued unabated. An examination of his bookseatad that on multiple
occasions he had marked fees for consultationsispeand preparation in excess
of twenty four hours per day. Thus by way of exampe had marked fees as
follows: 1 April 2009 - 25.25 hours, 11 May 2002%.5 hours, 7 August 2009 - 31
hours, 1 September 2009 - 35 hours. His responbese allegations was:

"This overlapping is mainly caused by my lack oépi@g proper record of the exact dates and
times spent on each matter. It is also as a restitte large number of these third party matters |

am handling. This is however not intentional ancegretted.’

The high court was not persuaded by Leopeng's eapta, stating: '[i]t is simply
not good enough to merely make the bald staterhantttwas due to the fact that
proper records weren't kept'.

[112] The high court went on to record:

'We regard this explanation as totally inadequateunconvincing. On one day, 11 May 2009 he

debited for the following hours worked:

(@) Sekgobela v The Road Accident Fun®& hours of R1 000 an hour for perusal and
preparation;

(b) Khumalo v The Road Accident Fund hours for perusal and preparation;

(c) Makua v The Road Accident Fun& hours for perusal and preparation;

(d) van Schalkwyk v The Road Accident Fund hours for perusal and preparation;

(e) Maphitshi v The Road Accident Fun8 hours for perusal and preparation;

)] Mosena v The Road Accident Furd4 hours for perusal and preparation and attgndin

pre-trial conference - 30 minutes.’
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In each of those matters the fee charged did mdude consultations but was
restricted to perusal and preparation and in orstamte attending a pre-trial
conference. Actual times were not furnished, irgstggobular amounts were
charged. The high court concluded:

[tihe irresistible inference is that he could mputssibly have worked the hours that he has
claimed. He represented to the attorney, the Fand,the Taxing Master that he had done the

work well-knowing that in fact he had not. He actestidulently and is not fit to be an officer of
this Court'.

Mogagabe

[113] Mogagabe's transgressions ranked second tonlgezuidenhout. During

February, March, April, May, August and October 20@ held 33, 49, 54, 68, 78
and 84 additional briefs per month, respectivelyn @&xamination of his books
revealed that during February to October 2009 hiedebited fees for 18 hours or
more per day on 73 occasions. On 40 occasions Ihieeddees for 24 hours or
more per day. On 24 occasions he debited feesOfdroBrs or more per day. And
on what the high court described as the longestofldwys life, namely 21 October
2009, he allegedly worked for a total of 49 hours.

[114] In response to the allegations Mogagabe diatais affidavit:

' ... one gathers the impression that | dishonestlyked fees for preparation. The evaluation of
my accounts apparently leads to the conclusionitharked fees and charged for work that |
did not in fact do. This is not correct, as appdans what is stated below. The above inference
however hinges on the correctness of my accounysadéounts according to me reflect the
correct hours taking into account what is statddweln certain instances the dates create the
wrong impression as to when the work was actuadhyed In order to put this in perspective, |

will deal with my routine and my administration.
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The Honourable Court, will, with respect, realisatt under the above circumstances office
administration is prone to lack [lag] behind. | kep timesheet in the front of each brief. |
normally marked the time as and when | did the wbvirote down the time spent, but | was not
in the habit of writing down the specific day onieth | did specific work. | did not always
distinguish between the nature of my preparatioongaltations; pre-trial conferences;
inspections; perusal, etc). It from time to tim@peaned that | was interrupted in my preparation
to attend to other urgent matters. | would theréeny preparation hours later that day, or later
in the week whilst it was still easy to recolleetwork done. In the unusual event that | could
not recall the hour(s) spent later in the week,ould evaluate the brief and estimate the time

spent on preparation and/.or perusal, taking intmant the fee arrangement with the RAF.

I normally invoiced my attorneys on Fridays or gveecond Friday by sending the relevant
worksheet to my typist after having recorded there@pent on preparation and perusal. | added
all the preparation and perusal times on the wadshout due to the fact that | had no record
when the preparation was actually done, | normaborded my total preparation on the brief a
day or two before the trial date. In some caseggqt proper records and allocated the fees
accordingly. In other words, in certain instandés, date reflects the actual day when the work

was done and others the date on the invoice refleotk done previously.'

[115] The high court dealt with his explanationghu

‘This is a glib explanation. It amounts to thisough each invoice sets out a specific date or dates
when work was done, they do not reflect the trdthe truth lies elsewhere, but where, one
cannot say.

The hours complained of are a composite result n@irmber of invoices in different cases, in
each case a few hours. There is no attempt toarggerthe information to prove that when all is
properly set out, there was no overcharging. Oneldvbave expected such an attempt to have
been made in view of the seriousness of the pricee ffacts. But then, rearranging the deck
chairs will probably not prevent the Titanic fromlgng. To merely say, as Mogagabe in effect
does, that it is all due to erroneous bookkeepggdt in these circumstances an acceptable
answer. It indicates that knowingly over a longi@erhe gave incorrect information to his

attorneys. This detracts from his integrity.
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It is probable that Mogagabe did not work the howhsch he recorded and that he falsely
represented to the clients that he in fact did clbres prepare for the recorded number of hours.

This is nothing less than fraud.'

[116] Like Bezuidenhout, the high court orderedreat Pillay, Botha, Leopeng
and Mogagabe to repay what may be described asxtemt of their ill-gotten
gaing? to the Fund. As Nugent JA points out (para77) ¢hosders were not
competent and they accordingly fall to be set adkte the rest the appeals are
devoid of any merit. To be sure no court relishasiflg to impose the ultimate
sanction upon an advocate. But here in respecto ¢here were 'aggravating
circumstances' present that favoured striking ©ffe explanations advanced by
each of the five under oath were generally uncanmg if not plain dishonest.
And as it was put by Hefer JA Kekana(at 655G):

‘| share the view expressed @livier's case supra at 500& finthat, as a matter of principle,
an advocate who lies under oath in defending hiimsehn application for the removal of his
name from the roll, cannot complain if his perjisyheld against him when the question arises

whether he is a fit and proper person to contimaetsing.’

In Malan (para 10), Harms JA said ‘[o]bviously, if a coumds dishonesty, the
circumstances must be exceptional before a collroxdier a suspension instead of
a removal’. Although not a rule of law, Nugent JRpkins (para 69) why the
logical corollary of a finding of dishonesty is then advocate should generally be

barred from practice.

[117] A person who practises as an advocate isaegddo know what his duties
are, including that he mark his brief with the walnlat has been done and the fee
that is relevant to that work. In the ordinary @miit would thereafter have fallen

to the instructing attorney to hold an advocatadoount for the fees that he has

%2Those amounts are set out in paragraph 49 of Nugesjudgment.
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charged, by properly scrutinising the accounts bt@ate been submitted. That, as
we well know, simply did not happen here. Thus wleemfronted with the
allegation that excessive fees had been chargedadlocates in question were
unable to furnish sufficient detail of the work @grbut sought to explain in
general terms only the nature of the work doneetnrn for those fees. That was
wholly unsatisfactory. For, as Nugent JA put itMan der Berg(para 29): ‘[n]o
doubt it is incumbent upon an advocate who is altfep have charged excessive
fees to provide sufficient detail of the work tlmsts been performed to enable the
fee to be assessed, and in appropriate casesextagsnation might be called for

to establish the true facts . . .

[118] Their transgressions paint a picture of adwes who appear to be quite
indifferent to the demands of their profession. Thestained nature of their
transgressions, unlikely excuses and exculpatopjaaations ‘manifest character
defects, a lack of integrity, a lack of judgmentiam lack of insight®®* None of
them betray the slightest appreciation of wherg thay have fallen short or the
enormity of their wrongdoing. Instead they respahd&h enmity and indignation
that their conduct could have been called into tigrest all. In short having taken
all of the relevant considerations into accounthigh court concluded that there
were no exceptional circumstances present wariaiti@ suspension of any of the
five as opposed to their striking off. That, asally stated, was a matter for the
discretion of the high court. Given that it is hretnature of a ‘narrow’ discretith
(and not having brought the matter within the cosspaf any of the recognised
grounds for interference) this court is not simplylarge to decide the matter

afresh and to substitute its decision for thahat tourt. It follows that the appeals

#Malanpara 28.
%Botha v Law Society, Northern Provinc809 (1) SA 227 (SCA) para 3.
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of Pillay, Botha, De Klerk, Leopeng and Mogagabesit+ like the other appeals
in this matter — also fail.

V M PONNAN
JUDGE OF APPEAL

WALLIS JA (LEACH JA CONCURRING)

[119] Having had the advantage of reading the juslyprepared by my brothers
Nugent and Ponnan, | find myself in respectful gisament with Nugent JA in
regard to the determination of the appeals by 88 @ respect of Messrs Geach,
Guldenpfennig and Van Onselen. | agree with hint tha GCB’s appeals in
respect of Messrs Upton, Jordaan, Seima and Waliahould fail and that the
appeal by Mr Bezuidenhout must fail. | agree witnian JA that the appeals of
Messrs Pillay, Botha, De Klerk, Leopeng and Mog&gabgainst the orders that
they be struck off the roll of advocates shoulddismissed. The appeals by them
against the orders by the court below that thewayegertain amounts to the Road
Accident Fund (the Fund) should, however, succeed.

[120] The broad grounds for my disagreement with aoljeague are as follows.
First, Mr Geach failed to register for, or to p&AT from its inception in 1992
until 2010. That was a sustained course of dishgnis which he gave a
dishonest explanation. The high court mentionedTVas further misconduct, but
did not mention it again. Accordingly there arefactual findings in that regard in

the judgment. In any event, in my opinion, it résdlin a clear misdirection in
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regard to sanction, because the high court eitnkxdf to have regard to material
misconduct or treated it as inconsequential. Irar@go Mr van Onselen, the high
court held that he, unlike some of his colleagues] not engaged in improper
duplication of hours charged for work done in chambln my opinion that factual
finding was incorrect, and it resulted in a misdiil@n in regard to sanction.
Second, | think that the high court misdirecte@lftsn its approach to sanction,
both at an individual level in relation to thoseamvere not struck from the roll,
and at a general level in failing to apply the pipte of parity in assessing sanction
and in regard to its orders for payment to the Fdinht conclusion necessitates a
reconsideration of the sanctions imposed in ratatioboth those who were struck
off the roll of advocates and those who were n&.wWAll appear, in approaching
that task, my approach differs in certain resp&os that of my colleagues. The
judgment of the high court is now reported Rretoria Society of Advocates &
another v Geach & otherS | shall refer to it as the reported judgment. Il véfer

to Nugent JA’s judgment as the main judgment. Aydapart of the background
emerges from the main judgment and | shall endeasoufar as possible within a

coherent narrative, to avoid repetition.

The Background

[121] The circumstances in which the conduct ofséh@dvocates attracted the
scrutiny of the court can be summarised fairly 8fijom the North Gauteng High

Court there was a considerable backlog of casessighe Road Accident Fund

(the Fund). This was largely due to some misgudiecisions by the Fund in an
endeavour to address its chronic funding problefifse decisions aimed at

avoiding incurring legal costs until a late stag¢he actions against the Fund and

*Pretoria Society of Advocates & another v Geacht8eos2011 (6) SA 441 (GNP).
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postponing the settlement of cases until the v&sy iinute. The consequence was
that the Fund was rarely, if ever, properly pregd trial. Pre-trial conferences
were held late and were ineffectual because otla ¢d instructions. Witnesses,
both on the merits and in regard to quantum, wereconsulted or available.
Attorneys could not obtain instructions and briefedinsel at the very last minute.
This meant that there was no advice on evidence.dthe advocates, who did a
substantial amount of work for the Fund, estimatet his briefs on trial would
arrive between three and seven days prior to the afaset down. The result was
that when the day for trial arrived the Fund conlat proceed in any sensible
fashion. It was compelled to settle the majoritycases on the best terms it could
obtain. Otherwise it would postpone them, or, ife@ instances, try to defend
them on the basis of the plaintiff's evidence. Irtually every instance an order

would be made that the Fund pay the costs of thenaor the postponement.

[122] In this situation these thirteen advocatexktmore than one brief a day for
matters set down for trial before the North Gauteingh Court. The extent of the
multiple briefing varied from one advocate to thexthand from one day to
another. Sometimes only a single extra brief wdaddaken. In one instance one of
them took 21 briefs on a single day. Sometimeaihb#iple briefs came from the
same attorney and sometimes not. Sometimes abiriaés would be to represent
plaintiffs, or the Fund, but sometimes the advocatelld hold briefs for both
plaintiffs and the Fund on the same day. The dagam the Fund’s conduct of
cases enabled them to do this. They could be rahfomertain that the cases
would settle or be postponed and that, if any né¢éal@roceed, they would be able
to conduct those cases, whilst disposing of tharza of the matters in which they
had been instructed. Experience no doubt taugim thkich cases stood a risk of

proceeding and required rather more preparatianthiguconduct of actions against
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the Fund, at least on the merits, is rarely complexolving as it does a
description of how a particular motor accident ooett and an analysis of who
was at fault and the degree of their fault. Coneatly, if a case proceeded
unexpectedly, this did not pose any great difficult

[123] Accepting multiple briefs to conduct trialsthe same court on the same day
In circumstances where, if one case ran the otwirkl not, was a clear breach of
the rules governing the professional conduct ofoadtes as contained in the
Uniform Rules of Professional Conduct of the GCBnadl as the domestic rules
of the Pretoria Bar. However, matters did not thste. The other aspect of the
conduct of these thirteen advocates related tdee they charged for these cases.
In each instance identified by the Pretoria Barthe course of its internal
investigation, the advocates charged a full trralay fee for the case irrespective
of what work had been done on it or what effortnput it involved from the side
of the advocate. This was so even though manyeobtiefs ultimately involved no
more from them than to settle the cases, rather ¢baduct a trial. It appears that
the advocates charged in accordance with the Funeisuse tariff of fees for
counsel, when they were briefed on behalf of thed2tiand the fee that would be
allowed on taxation by the taxing master where thpgeared for the plaintiff.
The end result was that, by multiplying the numioérbriefs they took and
charging a full trial fee in respect of each ofrtheéhey could earn far more than
would otherwise have been the case. In every tes€und bore the costs and the

advocates appear to have set their fees withrimsnd.

%These fees appear to have ranged from R4 000 gen diae case of more junior members up to R5 680day in
the case of the more senior advocates.
¥"This seems to have been of the order of R12 0GL&000 per day.
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[124] The history of the disciplinary proceedingsl&his litigation are set out in
paras 29 to 49 of the main judgment. | add theovwalg detail. Each advocate
faced two general charges, one of ‘double briefang] one of over-reaching with
the number of counts dependent on how often thelyiimpermissibly taken an
extra brief. In regard to double briefing they taukiltiple trial briefs on the same
day, in circumstances where they could not havedwcted trials in all cases,
because that would have required them to be in ri@e one court at the same
time. The charge specifically alleged that the &aoldal briefs forming the subject
of the charges were not briefs with ‘a specific dwte to settle the matter.” The
advocates accepted this as correct when they ety to these charges. It is
accordingly not open to them to contend, as somhgtlkat these were not in reality
trial briefs. They were trial briefs (albeit thatwas not anticipated that many of
them would result in trials being fought) and weeated as such by the advocates
because they charged trial fees for them. Thisdiegctly to the second general
charge, one of over-reaching. Here it was allegatl in contravention of the Bar
rules governing the charging of fees, they chamgddll trial fee in every ‘extra’
case accepted under this practice of acceptingptauttial briefs on the same day.
Each extra fee charged constituted a separate obwver-reaching. In substance
the charges of double briefing and over-reachingstitute two sides of the same

coin. Had the former not occurred, the latter waalkb not have occurred.

The Law

[125] In South Africa the advocates’ professiorpignarily under the control of

voluntary professional organisations, situateddnhecentre where a high court is
located. These organisations in turn are the doesti members of the GCB. On
guestions of admission to, and continued membershithe profession the high

court exercises control. It is the high court toickhapplication must be made for
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admission and the high court that has the poweenmve practitioners from the
roll of advocates or attorneys. It exercises thgseers in terms of the Admission
of Advocates Act, 74 of 1964 (the Act).

[126] A person can only be admitted to practisamsdvocate if they satisfy the
court that they are a fit and proper person todreitied as sucff Central to the
determination of that question, which is the samestjon that has to be answered
in respect of attorneys, is whether the applicamt ddmission is a person of
‘complete honesty, reliability and integrity?. The court’s duty is to satisfy itself
that the applicant is a proper person to be allowwgatactise and that admitting the
applicant to the profession involves ‘no dangethi® public and no danger to the
good name of the professiol{’. In explaining the reasons for this | need gaelitt
further than the words of Hefer JA Kekana v Society of Advocates, of South
Africa,** when he said:

‘Legal practitioners occupy a unique position. @a bne hand they serve the interests of their
clients, which require a case to be presentedegslyl and vigorously. On the other hand, as
officers of the Court they serve the interestsustige itself by acting as a bulwark against the
admission of fabricated evidence. Both professimmge strict ethical rules aimed at preventing
their members from becoming parties to the deceptd the Court. Unfortunately the
observance of the rules is not assured, becausehappens between legal representatives and
their clients or witnesses is not a matter for mubtrutiny. The preservation of a high standard
of professional ethics having thus been left almestirely in the hands of individual
practitioners, it stands to reason, firstly, thias@ute personal integrity and scrupulous honesty

are demanded of each of them and, secondly, thedctitioner who lacks these qualities cannot
be expected to play his part.’

#3ection 3(1)(a) of the Act.

%Vassen v Law Society of the Cape of Good H®88 (4) SA 532 (SCA) at 538G.
“°Ex parte Knox1962 (1) SA 778 (N) at 784.

“IKekana v Society of Advocates of South Afti@@8 (4) SA 649 (SCA) at 655I-656A.
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The need for absolute honesty and integrity apfilak in relation to advocates’
duties to their clients and their duties to thertsilf In the past, applicants for
admission as an advocate, who were unable to derateighose qualities of
honesty and integrity, had their applications reélf$

[127] These qualities of honesty and integrity maehtinue to be displayed
throughout an advocate’s practice. That is appdrent the provisions of s 7(1) of

the Act that reads as follows:

‘Subject to the provisions of any other law, a ¢oefr any division may, upon application,
suspend any person from practice as an advocateder that the name of any person be struck

off the roll of advocates—

(@) —(c)
(d) if the court is satisfied that he is not a fit goper person to continue to practise as an

advocate.’

Conduct by an advocate in the course of his ophatice that demonstrates a lack
of honesty or integrity has repeatedly been hel@dd to the conclusion that they
are no longer a fit and proper person to contirugractise as an advocéte.
Although in these cases the court is usually corememwith conduct in the course
of the advocate’s practice, that does not mean ¢batluct unconnected with
practice may not be taken into account in assesgirggher the advocate lacks the
honesty and integrity to remain in practice as@roaate’’

*’Hayes v The Bar Councid81 (3) SA 1070 (ZAD) at 1081H-1082D.

“3Ex parte Swairl973 (2) SA 427 (N) and on appegvain v Society of Advocates, Nat8l73 (4) SA 784 (A);
Hayes v The Bar Councll981 (3) SA 1070 (ZAD) anix parte Ngwenya: In re Ngwenya v Society of Adesca
Pretoria, & another2006 (2) SA 88 (W).

*Qlivier v Die Kaapse Balieraad972 (3) SA 485 (A)General Council of the Bar of South Africa v MagB@p02

(5) SA 1 (E) paras 34 and 35. The same ethicalatals are demanded of attornegsciety of Advocates of Natal
& another v Merretl997 (4) SA 374 (N) at 383D-G.

“*Society of Advocates of Natal & another v Knox &eps,1954 (2) SA 246 (N) at 249A-B. | am aware of a case
where an advocate was struck off the roll for mgkinfraudulent insurance claim and a convictiora ferious
criminal offence would ordinarily result in the ambate being struck from the roll.
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[128] Hefer JA set out the proper approach to aliegtion under s 7(1)(d) of the
Act in Kekana'® where he said:

‘In terms of s 7(1) of the Admission of AdvocatestA4 of 1964, as amended, the Court may
suspend any person from practice, or order thamdéinee of any person be struck off the roll, if it
is satisfied that he is not a fit and proper pergooontinue to practise as an advocate. The way
in which the Court had to deal with an applicationthe removal of an attorney's name from the
roll under a similar provision in the Attorneys, tdoes and Conveyancers Admission Act 23 of
1934, as amended (before that Act was repealed),camsidered ilNyembezi v Law Society,
Natal 1981 (2) SA 752 (A) at 756H-758C. It emerges fithia judgment that the Court first has
to decide whether the alleged offending conduct teesn established on a preponderance of
probability and, if so, whether the person in goests a fit and proper person to practise as an
attorney. Although the last finding to some extenblves a value judgment, it is in essence one
of making an objective finding of fact and discoetidoes not enter the picture. But, once there is
a finding that he is not a fit and proper persoprtactise, he may in the Court's discretion either

be suspended or struck off the roll.’

[129] On the first two questions, namely what cartdbhas been proved and
whether, in the light of that conduct, the advoadata fit and proper person to
remain on the roll of advocates, this court detegnion appeal whether the high
court was correct and interferes if it was noapgproaches the matter in the same
way that it approaches any other appeal involvagual questions. Insofar as the
second issue has elements of a value judgmestnibti discretionary in the sense
of being open to a number of possible conclusitins.a judgment by the court in
the light of all relevant considerations and does involve a choice between

alternatived” Where, as here, the decision is made in applitatimceedings

*°At 654C-D.

“"Media Workers Association of South Africa & othef@ress Corporation of South Africa Ltd (‘Perskat992 (4)
SA 791 (A) at 800D-GPara 46 of the main judgment notes the differerfidanguage between the provisions of the
Admission of Advocates Act and the correspondingyision in s 22 of the Attorneys Act. It is unnesay to go
into the effect of that difference as it does migeain the present case.



66

without a reference to oral evidence, this courhias good a position as the high
court to assess the faéfdn regard to the third element of the enquiry e igsue

of an appropriate sanction — Hefer JAKiekana said that:

‘All that need be added is that appellate interieee with the trial Court's discretion is
permissible on restricted grounds only.Bayers v Pretoria Balieraad966 (2) SA 593 (A) at
605F--H,Olivier v Die Kaapse Balieraad972 (3) SA 485 (A) at 495D-F ar@Wain v Society of
Advocates, Natal973 (4) SA 784 (A) at 786ldd fin the grounds for interference are stated in
slightly different terms, but the approach is etiséliy the one adopted in all other cases where a
Court of Appeal is called upon to interfere witle txercise of a discretiowiz that interference

is limited to cases in which it is found that thi@altCourt has exercised its discretion capricigusl
or upon a wrong principle, or has not brought itbiased judgment to bear on the question, or
has not acted for substantial reason. (Beeson v SA Mutual Life Assurance Soci&§6 (1)

SA 776 (A) at 7811-782A and the cases referredéet.)*°

In National Coalition for Gay and Lesbian Equality &ers v Minister of Home
Affairs & others® the Constitutional Court, in dealing with a similkind of
discretion, said the following about the powersi@ourt of appeal:

(Nt may interfere only when it appears that tlogvér court had not exercised its discretion
judicially, or that it had been influenced by wropgdnciples or a misdirection on the facts, or
that it had reached a decision which in the resaulld not reasonably have been made by a court
properly directing itself to all the relevant faetsd principles.’

It is not sufficient that the court made correatttel findings. It must also direct
itself in accordance with those facts. Relevantdiac must be considered and
irrelevant ones ignored. If manifestly relevanti$ado not feature in its evaluation,
or irrelevant facts are taken into account, ordaate treated as pointing to one
result, when they clearly point to the oppositailteshe court misdirects itself and

“8Malan & another v Law Society, Northern Provin@&9 (1) SA 216 (SCA) para 12.

*9At 645E-F.

*National Coalition for Gay and Lesbian Equality &ers v Minister of Home Affairs & othe®000 (2) SA 1
(CC) para 11.



67

the appeal court may interfetelt is in terms of those principles that | approach
this case. In doing so | am mindful that the besteed the only, evidence of what
a court considers in arriving at its decision is tontents of its judgment and one
can only consider the question of misdirection bygking at the contents of the
judgment in the light of the evidence in the recordtart by addressing the factual
findings of the high court under the general hegsliof “The principal misconduct’
and ‘Additional misconduct’ and conclude that, save@ne respect in relation to
Mr Geach and another in respect of Mr van Onsdlegir factual findings were
justified. | then consider the issue of whether #iizocates were fit and proper
persons to remain in practice as advocates anty ldeal with the issue of

sanction.

The principal misconduct

[130] The high court held that the advocates wewndtyg of misconduct in

accordance with their pleas. It then enquired itite question of dishonesty
because all of them denied that their conduct wahodest. It rejected a
suggestion that the double briefing was merelyrigeh and endorsed an opinion

furnished to the Johannesburg Bar Council that:

*IFor an example sedanong & Associates (Pty) Ltd v City of Cape T&®@11 (2) SA 90 (SCA) para 9h the

context of review proceedings the same point wadenraJacobs &i ander v Waks & anderg992 (1) SA 521 (A)
at 550D-551B where Botha JA pointed out that thmitéition on the power of a court to interfere wih
discretionary decision by a functionary means thatcourt does not substitute its view for thathaf functionary
but it also means ‘dat die Hof wel sal ingryp oprgt daarvan dat die funksionaris 'n relevante faitw die hoof
gesien het (of te veel of te min gewig daaraan gédiet), wanneer die Hof oortuig is daarvan dat ieybehoorlike
aandag aan die saak bestee het nie. Die passtskemaie dat die Hof nie by magte is om in te ga@amlie vraag
of 'n relevante oorweging verontagsaam is (of vemtteangeslaan is) en, as dit bevind word die gevakees, om
op daardie grond die besluit tersyde te stel rpedie grondslag dat die funksionaris in daardiégpg behoorlike
aandag aan die saak bestee het nie.’
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‘It is not possible for one counsel to act in thestinterests of clients in two or more trials set
down for the same day, even if only one actioneisdown for trial and counsel is briefed on
settling the other matter®”’

Insofar as the over-reaching charges were concgethechigh court held that the
advocates had not been entitled to charge full tees for the additional briefs
they had improperly taken and likened this to ‘dgyl robbery’. Its conclusion,
apparent from the opening paragraph of its judgme&as that their conduct was
due to greed® The court accordingly concluded that their conduas dishonest.

[131] | agree with these conclusions and in my judgt they justified the charge
(and guilty pleas) of over-reaching. Advocates ardy entitled to charge a
reasonable fee, and if they charge an unreasorebl¢hey are guilty of over-
charging. That may or may not involve dishonesty.misjudged view of the
advocate’s worth or the value of the service reedés not necessarily dishonest.
Of course the excess may be such that it justdiesnference of dishonesty.
Over-reaching is something more and it may be sistnce to indicate why this

IS SO.

[132] Over-reaching involves an abuse of the péssetatus as an advocate, to
take advantage for personal gain of the person whmaying them. Advocates
enjoy a considerable advantage in setting a feey Kmow what standards are
applicable to the charging of fees; they know whatk has been done on the brief

and what time and effort has gone into that wahnkeytknow in broad terms the

®2To this extent its findings appear to go furtharththe main judgment in paras 20 and 21, but litttas on this in
the light of the conclusion of dishonesty in redatiot the fees they charged on the additionafdrie

**Where counsel mount the steed of greed and attémptear the hurdle of their professional rulesirttall
inevitably dents the reputation of their profession

*Algemene Balieraad van Suid-Afrika v Burger enrder 1993 (4) SA 510 (T) at 525I-526A.
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fees charged by advocates of comparable seniamnidyadoility for similar work.
This creates what economists call information asgimynbetween the advocate
and the client and even the attorney, one of wifimsetions is to ensure that the
advocate does not claim or be paid unreasonabk’¥a&here the attorney is
ignorant of what constitutes a reasonable fees anable or has no incentive to act
as a check on counsel, which was probably thetmtuhere because all concerned
anticipated that the fees were to come out of thedf~the advocate’s advantage is
magnified as the check built into the system iseahsFor the advocate to take
advantage of that situation, by marking a fee kmogwvthat it is not a proper fee, but
one that is unreasonable and improperly markedruheéerules, is an abuse of the
advocate’s position and amounts to over-reachirigis| innately dishonest

behaviour.

[133] These advocates claimed to be entitled tageha full first day fee on trial,
not only on the one brief it was legitimate forrhé accept each day, but on all
the extra briefs as well. They thereby represetuettheir attorney, the lay client,
and more importantly — since the costs were inbljitgoing to come out of the
Fund — the representatives of the Fund, that it ggimate for them to charge

these fees. For the reasons that follow | am sadishat they were not.

[134] Traditionally a first day fee on trial comsated the advocate for the work
done in preparation for the trial, apart from woskich as drafting pleadings or
conferences, that had been the subject of a sepspatific brief. It thus covered
all work, such as considering the available evigeneading the documents;

deciding which witnesses to call; preparing to ledthesses; preparing cross-

lbid, 5211-522B.
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examination of the opponent’s witnesses; legalareteand the general planning
of the conduct of the case. It also compensateadkecate for the appearance on
the first day of the case. Fees for the secondaticer days, known as refreshers,
were significantly lower. In current practice, whemany advocates charge
separately for their preparation, a first day feetoal should not be markedly

different from the refresher because they are cosgteng for the same work — the

day in court®

[135] A misapprehension that infected some of tlgriments before us was that,
if a trial settles shortly before the date of setvd, that entitles the advocate to a
fee on brief equivalent to a first day fee on triedespective of whether any work

had been done on the brief and irrespective of mdrghe acceptance of the brief
resulted in work being turned away to the advoeatiEtriment. That approach is
incorrect. It would have the result that the mexet bf entering a trial date in the

advocate’s diary would give rise to an entitlementharge a fee on brief. But that
would breach the basic rule that an advocate ig emiitled to charge a reasonable
fee. The true position is expressed in rule 8(lM{ixhe rules of the Society of

Advocates of KwaZulu-Natal (which has for many yelaeen the ethics committee
of the GCB), which reads as follows:

‘A fee on brief is chargeable by counsel in ordecompensate him for work done in preparation

for the trial of a case and for the loss of oppaitiuto earn fees from other work suffered in

consequence of his acceptance of a trial brief. /d/heither of these factors is present counsel

will not ordinarily be entitled to charge a fee tmef.”’

*The two different approaches to charging fees @eudsed irCity of Cape Town v Arun Property Development
(Pty) Ltd & another2009 (5) SA 227 (C) paras 5-6 and 22-23.

*'This is the point of the explanation for charginfea on brief inPretorius v Santam Bp&000 (2) SA 858 (T) at
867F-868A. It also illustrates why there cannotabdirect comparison between the fees charged bgcaties and
attorneys for trial workRoad Accident Fund v Le Ro@002 (1) SA 751 (W) at 757B-DAircraft Completion
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For that reason the rule goes on to provide thattifal settles before the date of
set down the advocate’s fee should not be settiddthe attorney or marked until
the date of set down. This enables the advocatassess the extent of any
prejudice arising from the acceptance of the bielvocates who wish to claim
payment of a fee on the footing that they have @ejudiced by accepting the
brief should be able to demonstrate that they Ihaeketo turn other work away as a

result.

[136] The twelve advocates engaged in double Imgefiecause of the virtual
certainty, as many of them explained, that the Fwodld settle or require an
adjournment. The amount of work involved in prepiara must have been
minimal, amounting largely to guiding the attorneyassessing a fair figure at
which to settle and perhaps conducting all or pathe negotiations. Experienced
attorneys specialising in personal injury caseslavpuobably have done much of
the groundwork and the advocates’ own experienceldvbave enabled them to
make a reasonable assessment without undue efioety were already being
compensated for the day’s appearance, so chargtay’a fee in the extra cases

they were taking as a result of their double bmgfivas clearly impermissible.

[137] In addition they cannot have failed to be savaf the cumulative effect on

their earnings of charging multiple fees on the esatay. | attach little weight to

Centre (Pty) Ltd v Rossouw & othe?2904 (1) SA 123 (W) para 154(5) and fn 11. Thechatin De Rebus

(September 2012) 21 which seeks to equate the pgvezeeds from the erroneous perspective that atb®eae

entitled (and therefore attorneys should likewieeehtitled) to charge a fee for a day merely bezdlusy have set
the day aside, even though they have been paidagepefor their preparation and were not prejudibg having to

turn work away as a result of their reserving thg.drhat is incorrect. If the attorney wishes taird a fee for the
day then it is for the attorney to show that tkiguistified by work performed and not charged feparately and by
prejudice in their practice as a result of agregtngndertake the trial. This may be more diffidalthe case of an
attorney because of the differences between amefts and an advocate’s practice.
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the suggestion made by many of them that they #egt fees to the level of the
Fund’s tariff or the amount recoverable on taxatibrwas obviously profitable —
indeed extremely profitable — for them to do®$dn addition fixing their fees at
that level was consistent with the entire systetmcivwas that the fees would be
paid out of the Fund. They must all have been awiaa¢ the fees they were
charging in these cases were not reasonable feessasl in accordance with the
rules governing their profession. The rapidity withich, once the Pretoria Bar
conducted its investigation, the majority of thedmétted to over-reaching merely

reinforces that.

[138] In regard to the counts of double briefirfgg £xplanations proffered by the
advocates all turned, to a greater or lesser exaeotind the circumstances of the
Fund and the backlog in Fund cases described iaspa@rto 13 of the main
judgment. Some suggested, in exculpation of thendact, that they assisted in
ameliorating this situation. It is apparent frome tlmecord of the first ten
disciplinary hearings conducted by the Pretoria Baat it was treated as
exculpatory by both the counsel acting as pro fogonagecutor and the members of
the committee. In my view that was a mistake. Tineompetence of the Fund
created an opportunity that these advocates eggloit engage in double briefing
on a relatively risk free basis. Like the high doamd my colleagud | am unable
to accept that their reason for doing this wasugtn and not their own financial
benefit. Had it been altruism they would not hatarged the fees that they did,

but would have undertaken the resolution of casesidminal fees and possibly

**The high court calculated and the advocates acdepte the extent of their financial gain from taexctivities
during the ten months of the bar's enquiry was R38a (Geach); R864 000 (both Williams and Gildenpig);
R268 000 (Pillay); R166 400 (Upton); R1 768 000 tfi&); R141 900 (Seima); R310 800 (De Klerk); R98 00
(Jordaan); R967 800 (Van Onselen); R1 323 000 (eegp and R1 916 800 (Mogagabe). It did not expleiw it
arrived at these figures.

*Main judgment para 18 and 22.
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made helpful suggestions to the Judge PresidehisoDeputy of ways in which

the problems being experienced could be resolviedrelis no indication that they
did either of these. All that they did was explthe situation and by doing so
obtained significant financial benefits. As Nug8Atso aptly expresses it, they set

about plundering the Furfd.

[139] The acknowledgements of misconduct by thesdve advocates in relation
to double briefing were in my view entirely juséifl. | do not think it correct to say
that they had perhaps been mistaken in acceptatgthiey were guilty of double
briefing. They could not have been certain in adeawhich cases would proceed
and which not so all were potentially cases wheagdstcould proceed. The fact
that in the light of experience they could be faisure that almost all of them
would settle or be postponed does not in my videcaimatters. Every advocate
has encountered cases that they thought woule@ skttt did not, in the same way
as they encountered cases that they were conviwoettl proceed that settled.
They were charged and admitted their guilt on #ress basis that these were not
briefs on settlement, but briefs on trial. As exgeced advocates they presumably
read the charge sheet and accepted that it wasctoHowever, in view of the
linkage between double briefing and over-reachimagd is no need to explore this

any further.

[140] Overall their misconduct was deliberate, feag, serious and committed
over a lengthy period of time. It was undertakemnhi& face of a specific warning
from their professional body of the consequencesuch conduct. To behave in

that fashion shows a lack of integrity. Whilst ihgestigation by the Pretoria Bar

®Main judgment para 27.
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only spanned a ten month period from February teeNwer 2009 it is plain that
some of the advocates had been guilty of the sammduct before. There was
evidence that Messrs Geach, de Klerk and Pillayw@$ as Mr Bezuidenhout)
were engaged in this conduct in 2007 and Messrsri)ptan Onselen and Seima
acknowledged that they had double briefed priof&ruary 2009. The other
advocates declined to deal with transgressionbefttles prior to February 2009
although they were specifically challenged by th€BGto do so. Instead they
adopted the attitude that this was not within tt@pg of the enquiry. That was not
a proper approach. It has frequently been pointedhat disciplinary proceedings
against a legal practitioner are of a special ®imdid that an advocate facing such
proceedings should approach them with candour atdresort to a technical

approach based on bland or evasive deffials.

Additional misconduct

[141] Certain further conduct was placed before tbeart in relation to those
individuals in respect of whom striking off ordevere made and one who was not.
Five of them, Messrs Pillay, Botha, Van Onselempdsng and Mogagabe, were
found, on an inspection of their books of accounttliie Pretoria Bar, to have
charged fees for preparation, conferences andkéet times when, according to
their records, they were engaged in trials or ottmrsultations or preparatory
work. In effect fees were being raised in respddifferent clients in respect of
the same periods of time. The explanations of atnative inefficiency given for

this were, save in the case of Mr van Onselenctajeby the high court. | will

®1The cases are collected $ociety of Advocates of South Africa (WitwatersrBidsion) v Edelingl998 (2) SA
852 (W) at 859F-861E.

®2Prokureursorde van Transvaal v Kleynhat®95 (1) SA 839 (T) at 853E-G/alan & another v Law Society,
Northern Provincessupra, para 12.
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revert to the finding in his case in due coursehmcase of Mr de Klerk there was
no evidence of any separate and additional misatndut it was pointed out that
he had continued on his path of double briefing anel-reaching for nine days in
November 2009 at a stage when he was aware ofréteria Bar’'s investigation

into that topic.

[142] In respect of Mr Pillay, the high court caesied a complaint that he had
lied to Mojapelo DJP, when asked by the lattehd teason for his not being in
court at the roll call in Johannesburg one day thas he was appearing in the roll
call court in Pretoria. Not only did the high coadcept that he had indeed lied to
Mojapelo DJP, but it correctly held that Mr Pillayevidence about this was
untruthful. That conclusion reflects directly onsHhnhonesty and integrity. The
courts have repeatedly (and rightly) said that shaiest explanation by a legal
practitioner of misconduct, and seeking to misléa&l court that is considering
charges of misconduct, can be taken into accourdetermining whether the
practitioner is a fit and proper person to remam the roll of advocates or
attorneys as the case may°berfter all one of the cardinal duties owed by an

officer of the court is not to mislead the courginy way?*

[143] That brings me to the matter of Mr Geachtufe to register for, and pay,
VAT, where in my view the high court erred. Whenvkas required to make his
books of account available for inspection he dmsetb what would have been
apparent from them, namely that he had never ergidtas a vendor in terms of

®3The authorities are collected @eneral Council of the Bar of South Africa v Magitgupra, paras 34 and 35.
%“See the passage from the judgmenRandel v W1966] 1 All ER (QB) at 479 cited ifatal Law Society v N
1985 (4) SA 115 (N) at 1211-122B.
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the Value Added Tax A, notwithstanding the fact that he had for many year
earned considerably more than the statutory thteésitowvhich such registration is
mandatory. Nor had he accounted for VAT on his.féés non-compliance with

s 23(1) of the VAT Act was an offence in terms &8c) of the VAT Act and
rendered him liable on conviction to a fine or ateace of imprisonment of up to
two years. In addition for the reasons explainedhm following paragraphs his
non-payment of VAT caused a loss to the fiscusvaasl potentially detrimental to

his clients.

[144] Although not registered, Mr Geach was a ‘vané@s defined in s 1 of the
VAT Act. As such, when he rendered services asdmocate, they were taxable
supplies under the VAT Act. His non-registrationedanot mean that he did not
have to charge VAT on his fees and pay it to SARSnerely provided the
occasion for his not doing so. Taxpayers may eitharge VAT on an exclusive
or an inclusive basis. It is usual for advocatexharge on an exclusive basis.
Their accounts then reflect the VAT as an additi@mount over and above the
fee. This amount they are supposed to collect ftwenclient and pay to SARS. If
they do not do so then there is a loss to the eefhe reason is that in terms of
s 7(1)a) of the VAT Act, VAT is only payable by a vendor tre supply of goods
or services. Attorneys may be obliged to procurgises for their clients, such as
the services of the Sheriff, an advocate or an rexpéness. However, those
services are rendered to the client, not the atormhat principle was established
in this court inMinister of Finance & another v Law Society, Tramah® where
Goldstone JA said:

®5Act 89 of 1991 (the VAT Act).
®Minister of Finance & another v Law Society, Tramsh1991 (4) SA 544 (A) at 556H-557A.
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‘The moneys now in question are in nowise paidhi® attorney, notary or conveyancer for a
service rendered by him. They are paid in respdcthe service rendered by counsel,
correspondent attorney, notary or conveyancer, rexpiéness, deputy sheriff or messenger of
the court, as the case may be, on behalf of tleatclThe moneys may not be claimed from the
client by the instructing attorney, notary or coymecer save in respect of the service performed
by the third party. In no way does the fee or oli@punt accrue to and in no way is it received
by the attorney, notary or conveyancer for a servémdered by him. The fact that because of a
professional practice or a contract the attorneyany or conveyancer may be personally liable
to pay for the service performed by the third pantyno way has as a consequence that the

attorney, notary or conveyancer himself perfornas fervice.’

[145] The fact that advocates look to their insting attorney for payment of their
fees does not affect tHi5The payments the attorney makes for those seraiees
disbursements and the attorney does not charge MAThose disbursements. If
the advocate does not charge VAT the attorney’'swatcto the client does not
include VAT in respect of that service. The samdrige in relation to other
disbursements. The attorney is not concerned witbter the person to whom
disbursements are made is charging VAT. They miy afl, like many advocates,
have earnings that are below the threshold foistegion and charging of VAT,
The attorney recovers whatever amount has beergathaior the services in
guestion whether or not the fee includes VAT andsdonot himself add VAT if
none has been charged. In the result there isa lhss to the revenue if the
advocate is obliged to charge VAT and does notaldrs addition, in terms of
s 61(1) of the VAT Act, the client may be requirdeg SARS to pay the unpaid
VAT once the failure to collect and pay it overdiscovered. In common parlance

this is described as a fraud on the revenue.ptabably a fraud in law as well, but

®’Serrurier & another v Korzia & anothe2010 (3) SA 166 (W).
Currently R1 million.
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that is irrelevant. What is important for preseatgoses is that it is fundamentally

dishonest®®

[146] For the sake of completeness | deal also i@ situation where the
advocate, who is a VAT vendor, charges on an ingubasis. VAT is then
included in the fee. The default position whereebhection is made or where the
vendor does not register is that the amount chaigel@emed to be inclusive of
VAT.’® One does not avoid that by not registering to W¥&f. Mr Geach was
liable to charge VAT. He did not claim VAT from hisients over and above his
fees. His fees were accordingly VAT inclusive, atteraspecifically drawn to the
attention of his counsel. As a matter of law hdemtéd VAT as part of his fees
and should have accounted to SARS for that VAT. EBffect of his non-
registration was to avoid the payment of VAT to SARVhichever way one looks
at Mr Geach'’s behaviour it was dishonest and inetla loss to the fiscus.

[147] Mr Geach does not say that he was unawatesobbligations in regard to
registration, collection and payment of VAT, andsamior counsel could be heard
to claim ignorance of these matters. His condud deliberate. Whichever way
one looks at the matter he was obliged to collect pay VAT to SARS and did
not do so. That involved a loss to the fiscus owaarly 20 years. On the fees that
he was earning the amounts must have been cordielefidis is misconduct of

the most serious kind and was dishonest.

®Estate Agency Affairs Board v McLaggan & anoth@@5 (4) SA 531 (SCA) paras 21-24.
"°Section 64(1) of the VAT Act.
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[148] The dishonesty was compounded by Mr Geackspanse to this charge.

The founding affidavit on behalf of the Pretoriar Becited his failure and said that

his conduct must have been intentional and thdiadeno defence. His response to
these serious allegations was to say that he disgtlbis non-registration to the Bar
and prior to that had made application for regigira He went on to say:

‘I was lax and careless rather than intentiondhis regard.’
Earlier in his response to the Pretoria Bar onidsge he said:

‘My nalate om te registreer was eerder die gevadm \agterlosigheid aan my kant as
doelbewuste poging om belasting te ontddtk.’

That response displays breathtaking insouciand@spart in regard to a matter of
this gravity. It cannot possibly be truthful. VATaw introduced in South Africa in
September 1991. Mr Geach has been a successfutadwbrough most if not all
of that period. He could not possibly claim to hdeen unaware of its existence or
the fact that advocates are obliged, like othedwees) to register for VAT purposes
and collect and pay over the tax collected tax system dependent upon self-
assessment and regular payment of the tax by vemslandermined if vendors do
not fulfil their obligations and, hence, a failuby them to do so is a serious
offence. For an advocate to be guilty of not regiag and failing to pay VAT for
many years in substantial sums and then to disnmss&ilure to do so as an act of
administrative carelessness demonstrates a comptdef probity. Taken on its
own, in my view, it would probably justify the cdaosion that he was not a fit and

proper person to practise as an advocate. Whem tadgether with his other

"My failure to register was the result of carelesssion my part rather than a deliberate attemataa tax.’ (My
translation)

"?The full scope of a vendor’s obligations and theamance of complying with them is spelled out hyegler J in
Metcash Trading Ltd v Commissioner, South AfricemeRue Service & anoth@001 (1) SA 1109 (CC) paras 13-
17.
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misconduct it demonstrates a complete lack of titegrity demanded of an

advocate.

[149] It is then relevant to consider how this wa@msalt with in the reported

judgment. Regrettably the answer is that it was Tio¢ issue of VAT is mentioned
under the general heading of ‘additional’ in thlaestule in para 4 of the reported
judgment. It is not mentioned again, either ingleaeral part of the judgment or in

dealing with Mr Geach individually.

[150] The high court was aware of the VAT issuedlation to Mr Geach because
it listed it as additional misconduct. It then didt revert to it. There are two
possible explanations. The one is that it overldokeThe other is that it did not
regard it as particularly serious and accepted Madh's explanation for it.

Whichever of those is correct, it was an erroragard to the relevant facts. This
was extremely serious misconduct and it should hte been overlooked or
disregarded. Accordingly, insofar as he is conartige factual basis upon which
the high court dealt with him was wrong. That regsithe court to look afresh at

the consequences of that misconduct.

Fit and proper persons to practice as advocates

[151] Although the high court did not deal exprgssith this question (the second
in the enquiry on which it was engaged) one infesen various passages in the
reported judgment that they regarded these adweatanot being fit and proper
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persons to continue in practice as advocdt@hat conclusion must have been
reached notwithstanding their protestations that esult of the sanctions imposed
by the Pretoria Bar they had learned their lessahveould never again contravene
the rules regarding the charging of fees. By wagx@mple, Mr Geach said:

‘| have certainly learned my lesson and | will double brief nor charge incorrectly in future.’
Mr Guldenpfennig said:

‘I am remorseful of my actions and will ensure thatill not breach the Rules of the Applicant
or the Advocates’ Profession in the future.’

Similar expressions of remorse and contrition arebé found in the initial
affidavits filed by each of the twelve advocategasponse to the Pretoria Bar's
applications against them.

[152] These statements were invoked before the lkiglrt in support of the

contention that the advocates had reformed anddvoat be guilty of similar

conduct in the future, so that no additional samcghould be imposed on them.
That was a claim that they werat that stage fit and proper persons to be
permitted to continue to practise as advocatest gédinently raised an issue that
does not appear to have been expressly dealt mveiny previous case, namely, at
what date the court, faced with an applicatiorermis of s 7(1)(d) of the Act, must
consider whether the advocate is a fit and propesgm to continue practice as an

advocate. Is it the date of the conduct that gnsssto the application, the date of

3In particular the fourth bullet point in para 59thé reported judgment. | assume that the stateineagard to Mr

Williams at 475G-H of the reported judgment thacé&nnot be said that he is not a fit and propesgreto continue
practising’ and the similar statement in respectMofSeima at 483C-D were made in error. There wagena

suggestion that this was a case suchag Society of the Cape of Good Hope 1986 (1) SA 616 (A) at 638l -
639E where the court exercised disciplinary povedrsuspension from practice in the absence ofdirfqthat the

attorney was not a fit and proper person to coettioupractice as such.
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commencement of the proceedings or the date onhwifie court decides the
application?

[153] In my view the answer is that the correctediatthe date at which the court
hears and decides the application. That is thetearti®n of s 7(1)(d) that is most
consistent with the language used, which is coudhethe present tense and
speaks to the immediate future, when it requirescthurt to satisfy itself whether
the advocate ‘is a fit and proper person to comtiptactice as an advocafélt is
also the construction that best accords with thénnianction of the court in
exercising the disciplinary power conferred by thection. Our courts have
repeatedly said that the primary purpose of theipi@ns empowering courts to
remove legal practitioners from the roll is not pwe, but the protection of the
public”® If the advocate has reformed and remedied his eor fhilures and
shortcomings before the application comes to cabete may be no further need
for any disciplinary sanction to be imposed, beedahg advocate is, once again, a
fit and proper person to continue to practise ahisusay ‘may be’ deliberately,
because there are cases where the conduct is@assnat, by its very character, it
renders the advocate unfit to remain in practiakrmay even exclude the prospect
of rehabilitation’® The need to protect the good name of the professibich is
central to the enquiry whether a person is a ftt proper person to practise as an
advocate, may sometimes lead to the conclusionahagrson is not such, even
though there is evidence indicating that it is kelly that they will repeat their

previous misconduct.

"“This appears to have been the approaoiciety of Advocates of South Africa (WitwatersrBndsion) v Cigler
1976 (4) SA 350 (T) at 358D-G.

*Van den Berg v General Council of the Bar of Sd\ftita [2007] 2 All SA 499 (SCA) para 50

®Ex parte Knoxsupra;Algemene Balieraad van Suid-Afrika v Burger enrder 1993 (4) SA 510 (T) at 526H-
527A.
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[154] It follows from this that, in sitting on apglefrom the high court, we are
concerned with the situation that confronted thlghhgourt when it heard the case.
Subsequent events and conduct, unless placed bifigreourt by way of an

application to lead further evidence on appealnoabe considered in determining
the answer to the question of fithess and proprietyoe an advocate or the
appropriate sanction. If this court holds that tihgh court has erred in regard to
sanction, its task is to impose the sanction tahigh court should have imposed.
That is pertinent to our weighing certain submigsi@bout the conduct of the

advocates after the high court’s judgment.

[155] Reverting to the reported judgment the infieeeto be drawn from it is that
the high court regarded the misconduct of the aates; and the dishonesty that
permeated that misconduct, justified the conclusian they were none of them at
that time fit and proper persons to remain in psachs advocates. The further
necessary inference is that it did not regard #retions imposed by the Pretoria
Bar as having sufficed to reform the character cde®é¢ dishonesty. No doubt it

bore in mind that throughout the proceedings befiotke advocates persisted in
the stance that their conduct was not dishoneat;lith one or two exceptions
they denied having been motivated by greed; thal thlaimed that their

misconduct was largely of a technical characted, that they blamed the RAF for
creating the situation of which they had taken atige. | agree that they were
shown not to be fit and proper persons to remaithemoll of advocates and find it
unnecessary in those circumstances to canvassittiaios of each advocate
personally. | turn then to deal with the issue ahdion, bearing in mind the

constraints on an appeal court in addressing $kaei
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Sanction
Background, Bezuidenhout and Pillay

[156] The high court approached the question ottam on the footing that as it
had found dishonesty on the part of the advocateas necessary for exceptional
circumstances to be present if they were to aveidoval from the roli’ It did so
on the strength of a statement to that effeddlalan’s case’® That statement was
made in the context of the conduct of an attorng@yactice where the firm had
engaged in widespread touting and virtually eveitg governing the operation of
attorney’s books of account had been broken. Inctirgext of an advocate who
has been shown to be dishonest and lacking inyegyiiat is called for is evidence
showing that the character flaw of dishonesty hasnbovercome, or will be
overcome, if a sanction less than striking offiniposed. As the character flaw in
these cases was manifested by improper and dishon@sying of fees the court
needed to be satisfied, if the advocates were éadastriking off, that they would

not be guilty of irregularities in charging feestive future.

[157] The names of six advocates were struck fioeroll of advocates and seven
were suspended from practice for periods set otltarorder and further suspended
the operation of all or part of those suspensiangertain conditions. In the case
of Mr Bezuidenhout his conduct was so egregious taaddefence of it, even in
this court, so misplaced, that his striking off wamloubtedly warranted. Similarly
with Mr Pillay, albeit that his involvement in ddebbriefing and over-reaching

was at the bottom of the scale, his conduct givisg to the complaint by

""Reported judgment para 12, item 1.
8Fn 14 supra.
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Mojapelo DJP, and his dishonesty in dealing witht thbomplaint, was such as
inevitably to lead to an order for striking off thal. | need say nothing more about
these two.

Geach

[158] It is appropriate to deal next with Mr Gea€lor the reasons set out in paras
145 to 153 of this judgment | am satisfied thas ttwurt must address the question
of sanction in his case on a factual basis diffefenm that of the high court. He
was guilty of serious misconduct in regard to blit double briefing and over-
reaching as well as in relation to his failure egister for and pay VAT collected
on his fees. These offences were committed oveotasted period and involved
dishonesty in relation to large sums of money. Tmmcipal targets of his
misconduct were the Fund, which derives its revenfrem road users and
taxpayers, and SARS, which is responsible for coilg tax on behalf of the
community to pay for public services. His motivatim over-reaching was clearly
greed. In regard to the double briefing and ovachéng he denied dishonesty and
in regard to VAT he tried to dismiss it as a trivealministrative oversight. Such
conduct by an advocate must not only be deprecatad, also dealt with
appropriately. The proper starting point is thatthe absence of some compelling
or exceptional circumstance, because he has failedisplay the honesty and
integrity required of an advocate and brought thene of the profession into
disrepute, he should be struck from the roll.

[159] Mr Geach’s position was the following. He wtag most senior advocate in

terms of call, having been at the Bar for 33 yeHes.had held silk for five years.
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He was in a position of leadership where he shbalce set an example for others.
The example he set was a bad one. His miscondustextensive and clearly
comparable with that of those who were struck Diffe statement by the high court
that ‘his offences were not on the scale of theonitgj of other respondents’'was
factually incorrect. He had the sixth highest numiifecontraventions and was the
fifth highest beneficiary in financial terms. Thaemere 82 counts spread over 47
days (out of a possible 140 days). The High Coaidutated his gain at R984 000.
His earnings over and above this were substaritt@t emerges from a set of 34
charges, not already discussed in this judgmentredticing his fees without
obtaining the consent of the Bar Council. In 34esabetween February and
August 2009 he reduced his marked fees. Globa#yréduction was from some
R2.25 million to about R950 000. (There was a feirtbreach of the Bar rules in

that he reduced his fee to what was allowed ontitaxavhich is impermissible.)

[160] The high court held that there were certakteptional circumstances
present in relation to all of the advocates in réda the double briefing and over-
reaching. It said that these consisted in the tfzat the sentences imposed by the
Pretoria Bar had been served; in the fact thapthetice was widespread and both
judges and fellow advocates turned a blind eyd;tand that the advocates had
practised after serving their suspensions in aggsibnal fashion. It added to these
in relation to Mr Geach that he had paid a heftg fand been unable to practise for
three months; that he was 59 years of age, maniikda family that he supported,
and had been in practise for 33 years without groonplaints of misconduct; that
he appeared not to have been actuated by greet;thbachairman of the

disciplinary committee concluded that there werexténsive extenuating

"Reported judgment 464F-G item 9.
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circumstances’; and that he claimed that no cliextt had to pay any part of the
award from the Fund to him in respect of fees.

[161] There are difficulties with some of thesediimgs. The court had already
held that the advocates had been motivated by gnegado other plausible reason
emerges for Geach to have behaved as he did. Higityaexperience at the Bar
and the fact that he had held silk for five yeaeyavall factors that had been
present when he engaged in this misconduct andnbadeterred him. There is
also nothing to indicate that he would have dedistem this misconduct or

regularised his tax position had the Pretoria Barinstituted its enquiries. The
court had already correctly held that the apprazfcthe De Vos committee to its
task had been defective — a view shared in botiie judgment and here — and
in those circumstances the view of the chair ofdiseiplinary committee as to the

presence of extenuation was irrelevant.

[162] What weight should be given to the miscondnaiegard to VAT? This is a

novel issue in South Africa so far as professiomagconduct is concerned.
However, | have found helpful the approach to tjusstion adopted in a number
of decisions in Australia the effect of which idlgared together in the judgment of
Mason P inNew South Wales Bar Association v Hamfidfirst it is important to

note that the approach of those courts to profeatimisconduct is similar to our
own. That much emerges from paras 73 to 79 ofjtltlgment where the duty of
the barrister and the role of the court in exengsts disciplinary functions are set

8New South Wales Bar Association v Hamnie®99) 217 ALR 553 (NSWCA); [1999] NSWCA 404. Sdsoa
Legal Services Commissioner v Hewj208] QLPT 3 and the cases cited in para 13.
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out in language so similar to that used by our tsotlmat it is unnecessary to quote
it in full. One passage is however worth repeatihgeads:

‘Giles AJA described the basis of the Court's juciszh ... [and] referred to the protective

function of general deterrence in the followingter(at 471):

But the object of protection of the public alsolimes deterring the legal practitioner in
guestion from repeating the misconduct, and detgrathers who might be tempted to fall short
of the high standards required of them. And theipu@ind professional colleagues who practise
in the public interest, must be able to repose idenice in legal practitioners, so an element in
deterrence is an assurance to the public that seriapses in the conduct of legal practitioners
will not be passed over or lightly put aside, bilt ae appropriately dealt with.

These references to the public's perception oCiwrt's reaction to the professional misconduct
do not make the Court hostage to the public's asdusense of anger at the misconduct
uncovered. The Court must be satisfied that itelated views give proper weight to widely

and reasonably held public attitudes to practitisme the context of the administration of justice

generally and in the particular case.’

[163] Turning to the specific issue of failure t@ke returns of and to pay income

tax Mason P held that this was clearly dishonedtveent on as follows:

‘85 | emphatically dispute the proposition thatrdefling the Revenudefor personal gain is

of lesser seriousness than defrauding a clientemlmr of the public or a corporation. The
demonstrated unfitness to be trusted in serioutensat identical. Each category eictim" is a
juristic person whose rights to receive propergy amotected by law, including the criminal law
in the case of dishonest interceptiofih& Reventianay not have a human face, but neither does
a corporation. But behind each (in the final analyare human faces who are ultimately worse
off in consequence of fraud. Dishonest non-disa®saf income also increases the burden on
taxpayers generally because rates of tax inevitabfiect effective collection levels. That

explains why there is no legal or moral distinctibatween defrauding an individual and
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defrauding the Revenue Indeed, the latter involves an additional eletnerdicative of

unfitness to practise. As Sheller JA pointed ouh Court of Criminal Appeal (par 59 above):

. the Australian system of tax collection depengsn the honesty of taxpayers and, in
particular, upon their fully declaring in each yeaf income what their gross income is. In a free

society, such as Australia, the tax collector carofeck that every taxpayer has done so.

86 | agree with the following opinion of Justiceaynor, speaking for the Supreme Court of
California inln re Hallinan272 P 2d 768771 (1954):

The fraudulent acquisition of another's propertypig another form of theft in this state. We see
no moral distinction between defrauding an indigtand defrauding the government, and an
attorney, whose standard of conduct should be dneomplete honesty, who is convicted of
either offence is not worthy of the trust and aderice of his clients, the courts, or the public,
and must be disbarred, since his conviction of saatrime would necessarily involve moral

turpitude’

[164] Those statements are apposite to the sersgsnith which we should view
Mr Geach’s conduct in regard to VAT. That does ma&an that his name must
necessarily be struck from the roll of advocatesstach conduct. As that case and
many others from that jurisdictishshow, the seriousness of his conduct, the
reasons for it and his response once it is diseavare all important features. In
the present case these must be weighed togethertlvat other misconduct he

committed. What is highly relevant is that this vwetracted conduct over many

81There is a compendious collection of casekedgal Services Commissioner v Stirlii2§12] VCAT 347 paras 85
to 140 that concludes with the following helpfuhsmary:

‘It is evident from the above cases that the failiar file income tax returns and pay tax for areesled period:
(a) demonstrates a lack of integrity that the pubdis a right to expect from a barrister;

(b) reflects hypocrisy and inconsistency in puripgrto practice in and uphold the law, while at dagne time
committing serious breaches of the taxation law;

(c) constitutes complete defiance of his civic mrggbilities, while taking advantage of the fulhge of public
services made available by taxation, not leagténprovision of the Court system in which he eairmisdncome;
(d) places a taxation burden upon his fellow citizevhile he earned a high income;

(e) must be evaluated in the context of the undeglyeason or motivation for the offending condaatd

(f) is more serious conduct than failing to pay when assessed.’
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years (VAT was introduced in 1992) and caused ankist losses to the public
purse. Although he said that he had now registeheate was no evidence that he
has paid all the arrear taxes and any penaltiesaole any attempt to do so. (We
were told from the Bar that with the agreement ARS he had regularised his tax
affairs from 2006 to the present.) He did not aveaying VAT because he was
under either personal or financial stress and thlg possible explanation was
personal financial advantage. His response to tims,attributing it to an

administrative oversight, was dishonest. There was recognition of the

seriousness of his misconduct. At the least what required was a full and frank
disclosure to the court of his position with regeodhe payment of VAT and the
arrangements he made with SARS to remedy his positThat was not

forthcoming. When that is taken together with hikeo misconduct and the
absence of any exceptional circumstances eithagatiiig that misconduct or
demonstrating reform, in my view the only possiBEnction is that his name

should be removed from the roll of advocates.

Upton, Jordaan and Seima

[165] | do not propose to deal with these threkemgjth because, notwithstanding
my view, set out below, that the general approddhehigh court to sanction was
flawed, |1 do not, after weighing the evidence, reacdifferent conclusion to the
high court. They were all correctly viewed as miparrticipants in this conduct.

That is evidenced by the limited number of couritdauble briefing; the limited

amount of their improper gains and the relativedw foccasions (12, 20 and 27
respectively) when they had been guilty of miscatdiach was a middle junior
having been at the Bar for periods ranging betvwsesen and thirteen years. Their

offences lay in taking one or two extra briefs ometatively sporadic basis, in
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circumstances where other more senior colleagues wmgaged in an ongoing
practice of double briefing on a large scale. Irosth circumstances their
explanations that they fell into the practice hawene weight. In comparison with
the others the extent of their enrichment was netaty between R90 000 and
R160 000, and they have all repaid these amountiseté-und, albeit in terms of
orders that in my view should not have been madtiat @ioes at least demonstrate
a willingness on their part to do what the high rtaegarded as necessary to
demonstrate their remorse. In addition they pagl fthes that the Bar Council
imposed on them and also served brief periods gfienusion. In Upton’s case he
reported himself, not having been part of the aagienquiry. They have since
practised without further complaint although oneuldcexpect nothing less if they
wish to remain on the roll of advocates. The highrtdid not think it necessary to
impose a further direct suspension, and they hatecimallenged the suspended

suspension order imposed upon them.

[166] Against that, none of them can, or do, cléanbe young and naive. Nor did
they claim that they were unaware of the Bar ruléir offence, although limited
in extent, was serious and dishonest. | do notkthivat there was sufficient
material before the high court to satisfy it, i #face of such serious misconduct,
that they were fit and proper persons to contimu@ractise as advocates at the
time of the hearing below. However, there was inapynion enough evidence to
justify the conclusion that the imposition, of ather period of suspension, itself

suspendef? when taken in conjunction with the indicationsrefmorse that they

8 entertain doubts about the appropriateness afspesided suspension for the reasons set out innugés
judgment inLaw Society of the Cape of Good Hope v P&@09 (2) SA 18 (SCA) paras 28 to 34. See also
Algemene Balieraad van Suid-Afrika v Burger enridex, supra, at 527B-Q;aw Society of the Cape of Good Hope
v Budricks2003 (2) SA 11 (SCA) para Botha & others v Law Society, Northern Provin@X9 (3) SA 329
(SCA) paras 21 to 23lalan & another v Law Society, Northern Provincespra, para 2. However, this court has
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had already given, rendered any further similandgaession after resuming
practice improbable. In view of the more limitedoge of their transgressions
permitting them to remain on the roll of advocatesuld not cause harm to the
reputation of the profession. | accordingly agraeth\whe main judgment that the
GCB’s appeals against the orders suspending them foractice should be

dismissed.

Williams, Guldenpfennig and Van Onselen

[167] That brings me to the three remaining adwesatho were not struck from
the roll. In dealing with their cases and indeed dfuestion of sanction generally
there is disagreement between my judgment and then njudgment. That

disagreement revolves around three issues. Twofaaegeneral nature that affect
all the decisions in relation to sanction, and teeleo the need for parity of
treatment among all the advocates and the ordershigh court made for

repayment to the RAF. The third, which | will adskdirst, relates to the approach
of the high court to these three individuals speaily. | start by rehearsing the
misconduct of which they and the four who were ctraff were guilty. | do so

because the approach of the high court to thegscmscentral to the general point

regarding parity of treatment.

[168] The major charges of misconduct againstetks were in content and form

the same. They all were guilty of the same dishigneisey all pleaded guilty to

on at least one occasion accepted such a suspgsitia v Law Society, Northern Provinc2809 (1) SA 227
(SCA)) and the majority ifPeter'scase attached a condition to a suspension frontipeathat effectively meant
that the attorney’s restoration to practice was mogualified. See als&ummerley v Law Society, Northern
Provinces2006 (5) SA 613 (SCA). The GCB submitted that sanhorder is illogical and impermissible but the
propriety of such an order was not debated in db&fore us and accordingly this is not the ocaas@ consider
whether my reservations are justified.
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the charges of double briefing and over-reachingy tall relied in defence of their
conduct on the Fund’s conduct of litigation and stete of the court rolls in North
Gauteng; they all paid substantial fines and sempedods of suspension from
practice in terms of the Bar’'s decisions; theyraturned to practice after their
initial suspension without further complaints beimgde against them; they had
varying but significant levels of seniority; theyd not previously been found
guilty of misconduct; and they all undertook todsbby the Bar rules in the future.

When the GCB intervened and alleged dishonestyalalenied that allegation.

[169] Turning to the seriousness of their condtiet must be judged against two
criteria, namely the number of occasions on whingytengaged in double briefing
and over-reaching and the extent of their impram@ens from this practice. If one
does that their circumstances are largely indisigigable. Mr de Klerk appears to
have profited less from his transgressions tharmthers as his gains were assessed
at R310 800, but that arose from 74 counts of douiefing on some 50
occasions, sometimes involving his taking multipkeefs. As for the remainder
their gains ranged from a low of R864 000 (Messibiaths and Gulldenpfennig)
to a high of R1 916 800 (Mr Mogagabe). The numlecaunts ranged from 60
(Mr Williams) to 461 (Mr Mogagabe). There is no msiicant difference between
the different cases insofar as the nature or semess of the misconduct is
concerned. They all involved the advocates enrghiremselves with very large
sums of public money. There is no convenient or@mpate line of demarcation

between the lowest of these figures and the highest

[170] The high court correctly started from thegparctive that, in the light of the
dishonesty of their conduct, an order for their ogal from the roll of advocates
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would be appropriate in the absence of excepticimalmstances justifying the
lesser sanction of suspension from practice. | liafegred® that it did so on the

basis that it was satisfied, at the time that theggaications came before it, that
these seven individuals were not fit and propes@es to be permitted to remain in
practice as advocates. In considering a suspemsiany particular case it must
therefore have had in mind that, in the light oé thxceptional circumstances
relating to that individual, a further suspensiooni practice would have the effect
of remedying the defect in character that had ¢ethéir misconduct and result in
their being fit and proper persons to practiseda®eates. It is rare that this will be

the case. As Harms ADP saidNtalan:®*

‘It is seldom, if ever, that a mere suspension frpractice for a given period in itself will
transform a person who is unfit to practise int@ evho is fit to practise. Accordingly, as was
noted inA v Law Society of the Cape of Good HA®89 (1) SA 849 (A) at 852E - G, it is
implicit in the Act that any order of suspensionainbe conditional upon the cause of unfitness
being removed. For example, if an attorney is fotmbe unfit of continuing to practise because
of an inability to keep proper books, the condifi@f suspension must be such as to deal with
the inability. Otherwise the unfit person will retuto practice after the period of suspension with
the same inability or disability.’

[171] The GCB’s argument was that the high court ot identified any
circumstances in relation to Messrs Williams, Giajafennig and Van Onselen that
could properly be regarded as of such an exceptadreaacter that they warranted
a suspension from practice rather than an ordethir removal from the roll of
advocates. | respectfully disagree with the madgent’s characterisation of its

submissions as ‘no more than a challenge to thghtéor lack of it) that the court

%para 31 ante.
8para 8. See aldmw Society of the Cape of Good Hope v PRE&9 (2) SA 18 (SCA) paras 21 and 34.
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below accorded to the various factors it placedhim scale®™ The submissions
were expressly made on the basis that the hight é@a misdirected itself. The
GCB argued that the factors identified by the hoglirt as exceptional could not
properly be described as such, nor did they miigdie seriousness of the
misconduct, or justify an inference that there wadikelihood of a repetition of
this misconduct in the future. It also submittedttlihe failure to treat the
advocates’ refusal to admit to having committedgame misconduct in the period
prior to that under investigation, or the failucedive details of its extent where
such prior misconduct was admitted, constitutedagenal misdirection, because it
failed to give any weight to the advocates’ failuce comply with their duty
(referred to in the reported judgment) to co-operatly with and make a full

disclosure to the Bar Council and the court inittvestigation of their misconduct.

[172] In order to advance these submissions the G€Hgled to examine and make
submissions on the reasons given by the high ¢ouits conclusion. It could only
do so by having regard to the terms in which thg lnourt couched its judgment.
The main judgment rightly says that one does nad 1@ judgment as if it were a
statute, nor does one harp upon the omission efagefe to some or other factual
detail of less importance. (A failure to mentiordateal with a factor of great and
obvious weight, such as Mr Geach’s misconduct gare to the payment of VAT,
stands on a different footing.). However, as Cdr@@dtpointed out in a much-cited
address to judges published in the South Africam Llurnaf® not only do
litigants want to know why they have won or lost tshould the matter be taken

on appeal, the Court of appeal has a similar isteneknowing why the Judge who

®para 75 of the main judgment.
8MM Corbett 'Writing a Judgment' in (1998) 18ALJ116 at 117, echoing his judgment in this courBates v
Nedbank Ltd efr ander1983 (3) SA 27 (A) at 28A.
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heard the matter made the order which he did’h&sé¢ appeals the GCB engaged
with the judgment of the high court and submitteat it had erred in the exercise
of its discretion. That it could only do by dealingth what the high court said in
giving its reasons. Equally, in giving our judgmentthis appeal we need to
engage with those reasons. That task cannot bdexloi

[173] The language in which the high court exprdsstself referred to

‘aggravating’ and ‘mitigating’ circumstances’. THahguage is more appropriate
to a criminal court and its use in this context hasn held by this court to amount
to a misdirectiorf’ However, like the main judgmefft) will approach the matter

on the footing that this was merely an unfortur@teice of language that did not
divert the court from considering the true issuéjoly was whether there were
circumstances present that warranted the excepiioieaence, when an advocate
has behaved dishonestly, that, after serving d@durperiod of suspension, this

conduct would not recur.

[174] | turn then to consider what the high couatdsin regard to these three
individuals. It said they had engaged in miscondbat demonstrated a lack of
honesty and integrity that would ordinarily resuttheir names being removed
from the roll of advocates. As a result of that coisduct they had enriched
themselves out of public funds to the tune of R864 in the cases of Mr Williams
and Mr Guldenpfennig and R967 800 in respect ofvisin Onselen. | am in no
doubt that in the eyes of the public this wouldrégarded as entirely unworthy of

those who have the privilege of appearing in owrtso The importance of that

8L aw Society of the Cape of Good Hope v Pstara para 29.
8Main judgment para 73, where the reported judgmentlescribed as ‘no model of linguistic exactness o
elegance’.
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right, and the responsibilities attaching to it,hnmat be understated in our
constitutional democracy. It has frequently beemted out that courts cannot
fulfil their important role in our society withoat strong, independent and, | would
add, entirely trustworthy legal profession. Accagly in examining the high

court’s judgment | bear in mind the passage quotgéra 41 above, that:

‘The Court must be satisfied that its enunciatedvsigive proper weight to widely and
reasonably held public attitudes to practitionerghe context of the administration of justice

generally and in the particular case.’

[175] The high court identified four general facdothat it regarded as
exceptionaf® These would, of course, being general, applyltthaladvocates and
are therefore equally applicable to the cases adghwho were struck off. They
were that the advocates had served the susperaidngaid the fines imposed by
the Pretoria Bar; that the misconduct at least farsas double briefing was
concerned was apparent to the judges of the Noahtghg court and to other
advocates yet nothing was done about it; that dveeates had all been practising
for a substantial time since their suspension;thattheir uncontradicted evidence

was that they had done so professionally.

[176] | agree with the GCB’s submission that thet fthat the misconduct was
blatant and public, and that judges and advocates skould have taken steps to
put a stop to it did not do so, was incapable okingathe misconduct less serious
or indicate that it would not be repeated. The lugtrt erred in treating this as an
exceptional circumstance favouring a sanction othan removal from the roll of

advocates. It did not explain why it thought thisexceptional circumstance and |

8Reported judgment para 54.
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can discern no basis for that finding. It is therefa misdirection. In regard to
dishonesty, a matter that initially gave me pauss that, not only was there no
intervention by the Bench and other advocatesnbither the senior counsel, who
conducted the investigation on behalf of the Baurt@d and acted as pro forma
prosecutor, nor the initial disciplinary committeegarded this conduct as
dishonest. The main judgment rightly expressesnagiment at thi&’ It details*
the conclusions of the De Vos committee. One ofrtieenbers of that committee
said at the very first enquiry — that of Mr William- that he had been honest in
difficult circumstances and that was a theme thedumed throughout the
proceedings before that committee. There are a auwibtplaces in the records of
these enquiries where a member of the committeeeeged concern at the severity
of the sanctions the committee would recommendtedtdahat there was no
indication of dishonesty, and indicated that theomdtes had been struggling
manfully to deal with a difficult situation causeg the Fund. Indeed some of the
advocates specifically relied upon these statemientsjecting the GCB’s claim
that they had been dishonest.

[177] On reflection, however, | have concluded titg did not affect or mitigate
the finding of dishonesty because such dishonesig wbvious. The Vorster
committee had no difficulty in seeing that this doot was dishonest and it said so
unequivocally. It also rejected the notion that direumstances of the Fund and
the congestion of the trial rolls constituted amguse. As Mr Vorster SC said in

the course of Mr Botha'’s disciplinary enquiry:

“Main judgment in paras 40.
*Main judgment para 39.
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‘But is the short point not this, that the systeimak you have now adequately described, at best
gave rise to counsel doing things which they kneamnfthe start were wrong, but still they did it,
because the system was there and it was easy lwtekp

After the event the ranks of the Pretoria Bar waivided, but there was a body of
opinion that regarded this conduct as warrantirgjriking off application. The
GCB, which represents virtually all the practisiagvocates in South Africa,
clearly and unequivocally recognised that this w&honest and that the state of
the court rolls and the behaviour of the Fund ditlaiter or mitigate their conduct.
That view was unquestionably correct. The high toejected a contention that
because what occurred had taken place in the peypdichis meant that it was not
dishonest? By parity of reasoning, inaction on the part oé tBench and other
advocates did not create an exceptional circumstantavour of the advocates. It

should not have been taken as a factor countifeviour of a lesser sanction.

[178] As regards the other two factors the counnfhy as | have inferred, that the
advocates remained not fit to remain on the rok@focates after complying with
the sanctions imposed by their professional bodhat They did comply is some
indication of a willingness to submit to its disane, but they had little choice but
to do so if they wished to continue to practisaresnbers of the Pretoria Bar or
any other constituent member of the GCB. As reg#itdssecond, two comments
are apposite. The first is to heed what Hefer J4 saKekanathat ‘what happens

between legal representatives and their clientsviboresses is not a matter for

193

public scrutiny’>® Accordingly misconduct is hard to detect so that absence of

any contradiction is understandable. The secotithts on the assumption that this

An para 45 of the reported judgment it rejected thith the colourful metaphor: * A daylight robbean hardly be
called an honest person.’
%In the passage quoted in para 8 ante.
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was so, there was little else that the advocatekl@w if they wished to resist the
applications for their removal from the roll.

[179] Those two factors alone were clearly notisight for these three to avoid a
striking off order. Had they been, the other fowwwd not have been struck off. It
is accordingly necessary to examine what factob®it in mind in dealing with

the individuals. The following are summaries offitglings in relation to each of

these three advocates.

[180] In the case of Mr Williams the court noteds Hiackground and personal
circumstances. He had been in practice for 22 yeasslk for seven and a half
years and served on the Bar Council as an advdcaiogr and as an acting judge.
In other words he had served his profession. Se¥érs senior colleagues wrote
letters in his support testifying to his work ethigs contribution to the Pretoria
Bar and the fact that they had never found himctouaethically. When the Bar’s
enquiry commenced he immediately made a full dsale to the pro forma
prosecutor of his conduct and before the discipfit@mmittee he freely accepted
that greed had been a significant motivation fas thisconduct. His affidavit in
opposition to the GCB’s application, whilst desord the charges of over-
reaching as ‘technical’, made no attempt to exduseconduct. He explained the
context in which it had occurred but did not suggbst this made it right to
exploit that situation. He expressed remorse ferdonduct. Over and above this
when the enquiry disclosed that he had also beéty gl a contravention of the
Bar rules by not reporting to the Bar’s office mgaaa number of cases in which
he had charged a contingency fee, he repaid thdewdfothe fees so charged
(R868 850) without being required to do so. Thaatiteast some indication of a
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wish to wipe the slate clean and start afresht appears that in most of those
cases if he had made the required report it woale lbeen permissible for him to

charge and recover a contingency fee.

[181] Against that the court placed the fact tinat tnisconduct occurred whilst Mr
Williams was a senior and experienced member ofRtetoria Bar and one to
whom others could look for an example. His actimese entirely deliberate. In the
telling expression he used to the disciplinary catte®, ‘As dit pap reén, moet jy
skep.’” (If it rains porridge, you must help youfgelThe high court took into
account that the disciplinary committee held thetré were ‘very very extensive
extenuating circumstances’. It expressed its canmhs as follows:

‘We nevertheless feel that in the light of the sglecircumstances outlined in the main judgment
(para [471% together with the circumstances personal to Wi, particularly the fact that he
for more than 20 years practised without transgngsshat it cannot be said that he is not a fit
and proper person to continue practising. He has/slremorse and has furthermore undertaken
to repay to the RAF the amount that he gained fagtontravention of the rules (R864 000). In
monetary terms his conduct has therefore cost Hin73 825.To this must be added the loss of

income suffered during his six months’ suspensiuhthe future loss he will suffer as a result of

being suspended from practica.’

[182] In the case of Mr Guldenpfennig, the hightdaok note of the fact that he
had been at the Bar for 26 years and there had heeprior instances of

misconduct. It accepted his claim that he had eenbmotivated by greed in the
light of his statement that he had declined numeter briefs where he judged

that there was a possibility of prejudice to thierdl if he accepted them. He also

%“This appears to be a reference to para 54 of frartel judgment.
%Reported judgment at 475G-I item 8.
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said, and this was accepted, that he restrictedeleis and limited the hours he
charged for, as he was dealing with social legmtatin all cases he limited his
fees to what was recoverable on taxation. The gaid that his offences were not
on the scale of the majority of other respondentsthat he did not continue after
his books were called for and did not charge forkwmwt done. It concluded that
he was a man of mature years with years of prabtténd him and that it did not
consider that there was any prospect of his agaadhing the rules of the Bar.

For those reasons it thought a suspension frontipeaappropriate.

[183] In regard to Mr van Onselen the high coudktmote that he had been at the
Bar for 14 years without prior complaints of misdant. He had on occasions

assisted at court in settling cases without chargiriee and had co-operated with
the enquiry and the pro forma prosecutor and apsddgfor his conduct. He said

that he had just got caught up in the events amgtéssures from attorneys. It was
accepted that his actions had not prejudiced aiggmt. The court concluded:

‘Van Onselen will have learnt his lesson after suspension which we impose, if he has not

already done so. We do not consider that theraygpeospect of him again breaching the Rules

of the Bar. The public interest does not requigt tre be removed from practice permanerifly.’

[184] In my judgment the high court misdirectecltsn reaching its conclusions
in respect of these three. Some of the factors weitber exculpatory, in the sense
of reducing the seriousness of their conduct, mgriadication that the character
flaws demonstrated by the misconduct would not feahthemselves again in the

future. In other respects they were based uporudacitatements that were

Reported judgment at 494D-E item 11.
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inconsistent with earlier findings or simply errons. | identify these in the

following sub-paragraphs:

(@)

(b)

(€)

First, it held that the fact that the judges anlkdeotadvocates knew of
double briefing and took no steps to report it ot @ stop to it was an
exceptional circumstance. | have explained why ynview it was not. It
does not count in favour of the advocates that tbeyld have been
stopped earlier had other people intervened. Thmoitant point is that
they exploited the situation for their own advamtaig addition it is clear
that they would have continued to do so but forlibkated intervention
of the Bar council. That is what put an end to é&xploitation of the
Fund.

Second, it took into account in favour of thesed¢hadvocates their years
of membership of the Bar and the absence of priagsconduct.
However, when they committed their misconduct, theg nearly the
same levels of seniority and clean disciplinaryords, yet this did not
serve to restrain them. In Mr Williams’ case he wassilk and had
standing as a member of the Bar Council. Like Gées9afe, one would
have expected his conduct to be beyond reproadhnofee of this acted
as a restraint to misconduct fuelled by greed.is linclear then why it
would make a difference in the future. In additian, relation to
colleagues with similar years of experience andakguunsullied
disciplinary records, these factors were not takéa account in their
favour.

Third, in respect of both Mr Gulldenpfennig and ManvOnselen, it
concluded that they were not motivated by greect T¥as inconsistent
with its own finding at the commencement of itsgotent that counsel
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had ‘mounted the steed of greed'’. In fact Guldenpig's explanation
was that he could have been greedier if he had wélamg to run greater
risks. In addition, the finding in his favour, tHas offences were not on
the scale of the majority of the other respondetié®s not stand up to
scrutiny. He ranked sixth in number of counts anty dive others had
gains that markedly exceeded his.

(d) Fourth, in respect of Mr Williams the high courbkointo account in his
favour the view of the De Vos committee that themere substantial
extenuating circumstances. However, not only diat tommittee not
explain what those circumstances were, but it gagnt from reading
the transcript of the disciplinary proceedings tltatwvas under the
misconception that there was no dishonesty andtligabdvocates were
assisting the court and endeavouring to resolveiffcult situation
created by the Fund. That view was rightly rejedvgdthe high court
when it said that the De Vos committee had ‘clofedeyes to the
obvious’?’

(e) Fifth, the high court held that Mr Williams wouldffer monetary loss as
a result of repaying the R864 000 he was held twe haharged
improperly. That is plainly wrong. One cannot suffeonetary loss by
having to repay money improperly obtained.

()  Sixth, in relation to Mr Guldenpfennig the high cokeld that it counted
in his favour that he had confined his fees to ¢hoecoverable by his
attorney on taxation and would, where necessadyce his fees to this
level. Apart from the fact that this was also aalsteof the Bar rules, all
that this demonstrated was that his intention wasatget the Fund,

which would be responsible for his fees after timxat

“’Reported judgment para 45.
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(g) Lastly, the inspection by the Bar Council of Mr v@mselen’'s books
revealed four days on which there was a duplicatibhours involving
21 different cases and claims to have worked foladé 17 hours in a
day® Thus on 2 February he charged the same periodisnef (from
2pm to 4.30pm in one case and from 2 pm to Sprhreet cases) to four
different clients. There were even more considerahiplications on
three other days. His explanation was that this dveesto administrative
error rather than dishonesty on his part and tedtdd worked the hours
in question. The high court simply said that thesild not be refuted. In
my view, it should not have been accepted, for dhme reason that
similar explanations were not accepted in relatorMessrs Leopeng,
Botha and Mogagabe, whose books revealed simitantipes. Like them
there was no attempt by Van Onselen to show byaerte to the actual
cases, his diary and information obtained fromdtisrneys, that he had
in truth done the work but made administrative exrdf, as he claims,
his notes of time worked were deficient that does e@xplain how he
could send out detailed fee notes, consecutivelybaued, in different
cases reflecting detailed hours worked. The sampl@ce in the record
shows that he set out the times spent on readicgnaents and other
preparation quite specifically eg ; ‘08nh00 — 08h48&’ a specific day. If
his notes were inadequate these times and datessimaply invented for
the purposes of the fee note and bore no relatoredlity. His bland

explanation, like those of his colleagues, showtdhave been accepted.

“Reported judgment at 4931-494C item 9.
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[185] | next deal with the general point of pardtreatment. It is a fundamental
principle of justice, well established in a numioérfields dealing with sanction,
that in general like cases should be treated &liRénat principle was applicable
here aKekanademonstrates. As pointed out in paras 47 and 48eqaladl of the
advocates were guilty of the same conduct and thvaee no material difference
between them in regard to the nature and extetiiedf transgressions or of their
response to the charges being levelled against ttinein approach to the sanctions
imposed by the Bar or their attitude in the preggoteedings. As all of them had
been found guilty of substantially the same miscah@nd had responded to it in
substantially the same way an immediate questiahahises is on what basis the

high court differentiated between the two groups.

[186] The only passage in the reported judgment dieals with that issue is the
following:

‘In the case of contraventions after the notice26fOctober 2009, unexplained fiddling with

hours, mendacious explanations to the court andog&aat numbers of transgressions the scale

swung to striking off*®

As | understand it the high court viewed this addil misconduct as indicating
that the advocates concerned had thereby placenséhees beyond the pale of
rehabilitation, so that it was inappropriate tocteom them by way of an additional

suspension from practice subject to conditions.

%In criminal cases it applies to sentence. SeeGiannoulisL975 (4) SA 867 (A) at 870H and 873E-8v Marx
1989 (1) SA 222 (A) at 225B-D. In labour mattergsita central principle of the assessment of sanstifor
misconduct in the workplace. See the note by BréBidant and Asheelia Behdilihe application of consistency of
treatment in dismissals for misconduct’ (2012)Rdter 145.

1%Reported judgment para 59 at 462F-G.



107

[187] Mr de Klerk is the person whose additionalsoeinduct involved him
continuing to engage in double briefing and overcheng after the Pretoria bar
instituted its enquiry and informed him that he wasler investigation. He did so
for nine days. That was described by the high casirtontemptuous’. Bearing in
mind that he, like all the others at that stagektine view that what he was doing
was not a breach of the rules or improper, andttteatetter did not instruct him to
desist from any specific conduct, that was unjiestif The high court also said that
the scale on which he contravened the rules, amgdhiod of time over which he
did so, was an aggravating factor. That was algostiied. Even when the
additional nine days were taken into account hefeagr contraventions than any
of the other siX™* save Mr Williams. More importantly the extent ofsh
enrichment was considerably less at R310 800. €perted judgment sets out in
some detail his response to the charges and isthigt he had not been guilty of
over-reaching, save in a technical sense, arigiogn fthe interpretation the Bar
Council placed on the relevant rules. However,ayirgy that, denying dishonesty
and averring that the Fund suffered no loss ariéiogh his conduct, he did no
more than those who were not subjected to the isanct striking off. It will be
recalled that all of them denied dishonesty, aited their misconduct to the
situation brought about by the Fund and said iir #kfidavits that the Fund had
not suffered financially from their misconduct. lBaid that he accepted briefs
conditionally on the basis that his attorneys krleat if one case had to be tried he
would be unable to attend to the other mattershithvhe held briefs. But that was
effectively the position of all of the advocates,they all said that their attorneys
and clients were well aware of their position. Al all his position was not

significantly different from the three who were mstiuck off.

191And fewer than Mr Geach whose offences the hightatescribed as ‘not on the scale of the majority’.
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[188] | agree with the high court that the condiictiescribed as ‘unexplained
fiddling with hours’ involving Messrs Botha, Leogeand Mogagabe, amounted
to further misconduct that weighed against a caictu that suspension from
practice on terms would be an appropriate sanétfoAs Mr van Onselen was
guilty of the same misconduct the same should applhis case. When an
advocate does work in chambers unsupervised byrése=nce of client or attorney
only their honesty and integrity prevents them frpauding their hours of work
and claiming additional fees. That is the dangemmssect of charging fees on an
hourly basis. Once an advocate has been foundy gufilpadding their hours of
work they cannot be trusted to charge fees honastihe future and must be
removed from the roll. That was the high court'sdasion in respect of Messrs
Botha, Leopeng and Mogagabe and had it not err@hecaccepted Mr van
Onselen’s explanation, no doubt it would have biggrtonclusion in respect of

him as well.

[189] The other factor that was held to have switimg balance in favour of
striking off as opposed to suspension was descrdsexorbitant numbers of
transgressions. However, it is difficult to discevhere the line was drawn in this
regard. Mr de Klerk was condemned for 74 contraeestinvolving R310 800,
while Mr van Onselen’s 133 contraventions involviR@67 800 escaped the same
criticism. If one ignores Mr de Klerk, the line aas to run between those 133
cases and Mr Botha's 170 cases and between thato$uR967 800 and Mr
Leopeng’s R1 323 000. However, in the absence pfraasoned explanation for

this distinction, | am unable to accept that ijuistified. The heart of this case lies

192Similar misconduct occurred igemene Balieraad van Suid-Afrika v Burger enridex supra 522g-525F.



109

with the charges of over-reaching and the enriclineénthe advocates at the
expense of the Fund. Whilst that was greater ircise of Messrs Botha, Leopeng
and Mogagabe, than in the cases of Messrs Willig&iddenpfennig and van

Onselen, the fact remains that in the case ofatterltheir undue benefit was close
to a million rand. To distinguish Messrs Botha, peng and Mogagabe on the
basis that they gained more than a million rand m@sin my view justified. In

addition if one bears in mind that the greater am®un respect of the latter two
arose from a far greater number of cases, therapparent that the extent to which

they were over-reaching in each case was consigdests than the other fodt®

[190] Apart from these matters there is an incdesyy in the high court’s
treatment of the same factor in respect of diffenedividuals. | confine myself to
mentioning the most significant of these. The caaitl that Mr Botha had been
dishonest in saying that ‘these were not reallgl toriefs at all’. This counted
against him. However, Mr Geach had said the saing ff yet it was not taken
into account against him. The other advocates Haad because cases were
expected to settle there was little chance of tdieeing prejudiced. In effect they
were saying that the briefs were not real triaétsii® yet this was not held against
them. Again in respect of Mr Botha it was said ttmed reluctance to furnish the
details of his earlier transgressions negates aggestion that he is contrite’. Yet
the high court had said earlier in its judgm&that it would not hold this against

the advocates ‘in view of the limitation of the amif the enquiry’. Other than

193For Messrs Leopeng, Mogagabe and de Klerk theytpebfo the tune of about R4 000 per case. In éise of the
others it was in round figures R7 000 (Mr van OasglR10 000 (Messrs Botha and Gildenpfennig); G2 (Mr
Geach) and R14 000 (Mr Williams).

194These were not real trial briefs at all. It wag necessary to proceed on the basis that they woolteed to trial
if not settled. In truth, in my case, they wereuwadly all briefs purely on settlement ...’

1%5That this was the situation appears to be acceptée main judgment paras 20 and 21.

1%%para 55 of the reported judgment.
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Messrs Upton, van Onselen and Seima, the othezwikle refused to deal with

prior misconduct.

[191] Mr Botha was also condemned for not reportirgyunprofessional conduct
to the Bar Councit’” something that only Mr Upton did. His protestatioof
remorse and contrition were rejected on the bdwis he blamed his actions on
how the Fund conducted litigatidff, but that was the consistent refrain of the
others. In addition it had formed the foundationtfte De Vos committee saying
that the advocates had acted honestly in tryinguoastances and that there were
considerable extenuating circumstances surroundimgr behaviour. Those
findings by the initial disciplinary committee weted as favouring Messrs
Geach, Upton, Williams and Seima. Yet the identicalings in respect of Messrs
Leopeng and Mogagabe, were not mentioned. Ther Iatte testified to being
placed under considerable pressure to accept wwork the Fund. That was
entirely plausible in view of the Fund’s practicetrying to brief counsel from
previously disadvantaged backgrounds. Yet thatspreswas not taken into
account in their favour, whilst similar pressure Mr Jordaan, a previous

employee of the Fund, counted in his favtiar.

[192] In my opinion the disparities of approachttiemerge from the matters
described in paras 188 to 194 justify the conclusi@at the high court did not give
appropriate consideration to the need for paritytredtment in determining the
sanctions in these cases. It is not a factor thamentioned as relevant to its

9%para 9(f) at 479 of the reported judgment.
1%para 9(g) at 479 of the reported judgment.
1%Reported judgment at 491 item 6.
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decision. In that respect also it misdirected ftagld means that this court must
consider that question afresh in relation to athefse seven advocates.

[193] For the sake of completeness, and lest fl@mcthe topic were to be taken
as assent, it is also my view that the high cordckein law in making orders for
the repayment of amounts to the Fund. This clesnflypenced its approach to
sanction and it said as mudthin setting out its general approach to sanctioitnén
individual cases, where it said ‘must include adeorfor restitution’. That too, in

my opinion, amounted to a misdirection in regarddaction.

[194] As noted in the main judgméhtthe GCB did not support these orders
insofar as the struck off advocates were conceftiethat was wise. However, |
think it necessary to explain in greater detail regisons for that conclusion, as |
do not share the view in the main judgment that Was because the disciplinary
power was exhausted by the striking off orders. B€B asked the court to
exercise its powers under s q{())of the Act to strike the names of the advocates
from the roll of advocates. The only alternativelenthe statute would be an order
suspending them from practice. The high court resagl this and turned to the
common law and the inherent powers of the couxaiatrol and discipline legal
practitioners as a source of its authority to msiteh orders®® That power is not
excluded by the terms of the ACf. The high court gave four examples as

illustrating this inherent power. The first, thewsr to make a declaratory order in

11%Reported judgment para 59.

1para 98.

2The GCB did not ask that such orders be made aydvilere raised by the high coumero motu

3De Villiers & another v Mcintyre NQ921 AD 425 at 428Society of Advocates of South Africa (Witwatersrand
Division) v Edelingl998 (2) SA 852 (W) at 860B-G.

A v Law Society of the Cape of Good HAp89 (1) SA 849 (A).
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regard to the conduct expected of a legal prangtipis a corollary of the court’s
power to suspend a practitioner or strike them fitv roll, and provides no
support for the notion that the court may make camsptory orders. The second,
the power to make an adverse order for costs agemmsel, is no different in
form from that often exercised in respect of atys)or others responsible for
wasteful expenditure or unnecessarily incurringtcas litigation. The third was
that courts may find an advocate guilty of conteriiphilst true that does not arise
from the status of an advocate. Contempt is a camlaw crime that can be
pursued against anyone. Finally the court refetoeithe fact that in Roman times,
confiscation and perpetual exile were permissihieg in Roman Dutch times
deportation for ten years could be meted out assparent to legal practitioners.
The court did not identify the conduct that woulttact such condign punishments
and | can only say that we no longer live in RomaiRoman Dutch times. Such
punishments have no bearing on whether a Soutleakfrcourt in the Zicentury
can grant orders that advocates, who it is goirgjrtke from the roll of advocates,

make financial amends for their wrongdoing.

[195] At the end of the day the high court concllideat ‘there is no reason why
this Court should not be empowered to order an eateowho has overreached to
return the ill-gotten spoils’ and that to hold athise ‘would be laughable in the

eyes of the public’. The true question was not Wlethere was no reason for the
court not to have that power, but whether the cduttindeed have the power to
make that order. Courts as much as, if not more,tldher constitutional

institutions are bound by the principle of legalkhat requires that the exercise of
public powers be authorised by law. The power iesfjon is not authorised by

law and does not arise from an inherent discipjinpower that courts may
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exercise over legal practitioners. These ordersildhoot have been made. As
regards the concern that it would be laughablehan gublic eye for it to hold
otherwise, the law provides appropriate and adegqueahedies to a party that has
been overreached to recover the extent of its $oseen the party responsible and
the Fund had already instructed attorneys to putsuemedies in this regard.

[196] The high court thought that the orders fgrayment that it made against
those whom it suspended from practice fell in &d&nt category, on the grounds
that they could be made the subject of conditiohthe order and, in that way,
compliance could be secured. That approach is dharthe main judgment. The
GCB’s submission, while addressed to the appeamsigthese orders, was that
such orders were in general impermissible. | agesher it was permissible for
the court to make such orders or it was not. liddowt remedy the absence of a
power to order repayment to the Fund, by makingrgayt in terms of such order a
condition of a suspension from practi¢g The practical problem with such an
order is that it does not address, as these odignsot address, what is to happen
if the advocate did not or could not pay or stoppaging when some, but not all
of the amount had been paid. Execution could nd¢wied by the Fund against the
assets of the advocate. Non-payment would notlenkie court to reconsider its
order of suspension from practice. In essence thetdook it upon itself in
disciplinary proceedings concerning these advodatester upon and determine

potential civil claims against them by the Fundmin respectful opinion it was not

"°The power to attach an order for compensation saispended sentence in criminal proceedings istateig
power. See s 297(1)(b) of the Criminal ProcedurefAcof 1977.
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entitled to do so and it could not overcome it lata power to do so by attaching

it as a condition to a suspension from practiée.

[197] For the reasons set out in para 67, in mygmoent the high court misdirected
itself in regard to sanction in respect of Messifligvhs, Guldenpfennig and van
Onselen. For the reasons set out in paras 68 tit &0 in my judgment

misdirected itself on two general matters relevemtsanction that materially
influenced its judgment. That requires us to re®rghe sanctions imposed in all

Seven cases.

Conclusion in regard to sanction

[198] The most significant factor in determiningethppropriate sanction must be
the nature and scale of the primary misconduetalt dishonesty fuelled by greed.
It involved very large amounts of public money mered from the Fund, which

exists to compensate the victims of road accidémtsthe damages they have
suffered. There were clear and deliberate breachdise bar rules that exist, in

part, to prevent such misconduct and abuse. Tharene question of ignorance.
The circular issued in November 2006 made it pllaat this was misconduct. The
wrongdoing occurred over a lengthy period and eualastantial scale. In all cases
save Mr de Klerk it involved amounts in the reganor greater than, R1 million.

All of the advocates were fairly senior, rangingnir 13 to 32 years in practice. Mr
Williams was in silk. None of the advocates accehat they had been dishonest
until the hearing in this court. All tried to mitite what they had done by relying
on the state of the court rolls and the Fund’saiiefit approach to litigation and its

HeThere may be circumstances in which a court cordéroan advocate to repay money in his or her gsise but
that is not the situation in these cases.
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responsibilities. Their conduct undoubtedly broutjte profession into disrepute.
There is a genuine public concern about legal @rstisthe level of legal fees, most
recently expressed by the Constitutional CourtCeimps Bay Ratepayers’ and
Residents’ Association & another v Harrison & armth'” That concern is

exacerbated when advocates seek to enrich therasalvef public funds.

[199] In regard to all of the advocates | would attach weight to their failure
when first brought before the De Vos committee amaede dishonesty, as it is
clear that the members of the committee did natkthhat they were dishonest.
Nor would | attach weight to their failure to recoge from the outset that the
major problem lay not with the double briefing alpes, but with their charging full
trial fees in every case. Again that reflectedwviasv of the members of the De Vos
Committee. Those factors should not count agaiesnt However, | would attach
weight to their failure, once confronted with therster committee report and the
intervention of the GCB, with its clear allegatianfsdishonesty, not to reconsider
their stance and recognise the error of their wayeir protestations throughout
the proceedings before the high court that they ri@doeen dishonest showed a
lack of recognition of the nature of their miscoadult also undermined their
contention that they had learned their lessonrasut of the sanctions imposed by

the Pretoria bar.

[200] | do consider it to count in their favour tlturing lengthy careers at the Bar
none of them had previously been guilty of miscandl also accept that their

conduct does not appear to have prejudiced angtipfaslient. Had it done so one

"Camps Bay Ratepayers’ and Residents’ Associati@méher v Harrison & anothef2012] ZACC 17 paras 10
and 11.
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would have expected, given the time that has pasisada complaint would have
surfaced. | do not, however, accept the argumextttkiere was no prejudice to the
Fund, because if they had not engaged in doubddifgi other counsel would have
had to be briefed in their stead and they wouldehasen entitled to claim a full
trial fee. | do not do so because it is not cleamte that counsel, behaving
ethically, would not have accepted briefs on sewet only and charged
appropriately. The argument presupposes that atbensel would have over-

charged and | do not accept that.

[201] Two arguments were pressed upon us in reldddhe GCB’s appeal. They
were that the advocates had, in compliance withhtgk court’s orders, made the
payments they had been directed to make to the Bnddserved the suspensions
where those had not been further suspended. | tdthim& that can affect matters.
Insofar as the payments were made pursuant toig¢fneclourt’'s orders they may
well be recoverable under one of the condictidn&sThat would follow from the
fact that the payments were made in terms of conglers, and if those orders are
set aside the basis on which they were made Hhas falvay, leading to a right to
claim restitution. It would not appear to be anvegrsto such a claim for the Fund
to say that the advocates overreached it and thesecordingly no enrichment.
The defence of non-enrichment is not advanced ahhbahsis. It exists where the
recipient of the payment can show that if the paynmad not taken place it would

have been in no worse position than it was asdtresthe payment™® However,

18 udu Granite Operations (Pty) Ltd v Caterna 12603 (5) SA 193 (SCA) paras 15 to 17 would sugtestthe
appropriate niche is either thmndictio ob causam finitaror the condictio causa data causa non seculia
Besselaar v Registrar, Durban and Coast Local Divis& others2002 (1) SA 191 (D) it was suggested that the
condictio indebitior thecondictio sine caus# the appropriate remedy. In both cases it wasb that the precise
juristic niche was immaterial.

9African Diamond Exporters (Pty) Ltd v Barclays Bdnternational Ltd1978 (3) SA 699 (A) at 713G-| where the
test was set out as follows:
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if that is not so, the advocates cannot complaouatheir having been deprived of
amounts to which they were not entitled in thet folace.

[202] As regards the fact that the advocates hakeed a period of suspension, if
they had been struck from the roll, which is theuesin this appeal, they would not
have been entitled to practise at all. Accordintjlg fact that they have been
permitted to do so, as a result of the high cotdneously failing to strike them
from the roll, cannot redound to their advantagethle extent that any who should
have been removed from the roll have continuedtisiag, that was a benefit to
which they were not entitled arising from an ermnejudgment by the high court.
In my opinion neither of these factors is relevanthe outcome of these appeals. |

turn then to consider the individual cases

[203] In the cases of Messrs van Onselen, LeopBluagjagabe and Botha there
was the seriously aggravating circumstance that tierged for hours that they
could not have worked and gave a false explan&iodoing so. That undermined
their professions of contrition. In addition thgpé of over-reaching of clients is
almost impossible to detect. The client is abstluiependent on the advocate’s
honesty when saying that work was done at a p#ati¢tume for a specified period.
There is no explanation in any of these casesHerattorneys accepting these
charges, some of which they must have known wejastified, but that does not
seem to me to be relevant. When advocates havefbeerd to charge for work
that could not have been performed at the time fandhe period stated, an

‘Die las om 'n wegval of vermindering van verrykitg bewys, rus op die verweerder. As die verweendet
inagneming van al die omstandighede, tog nie liktaraan toe is as wat hy sou gewees het indiesntirangs van
die geld nie plaasgevind het nie, kan hy nie asykdseskou word nie en is hy nie meer aanspreealkbk As hy
slegs gedeeltelik beter daaraan toe is, is sy aealdikheid dienooreenkomstig verminder.’
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assurance from them that they will not do it agannot be taken at face value. A
denial that they did it and a false explanation goumds the dishonesty. For those
reasons | agree that the decision to strike Md3stha, Leopeng and Mogagabe
from the roll was correct. The same decision shbwalde been made in respect of
Mr van Onselen, whose misconduct was in every way @ar with theirs. As |

regard this factor as decisive it is unnecessargotwsider other factors counting

against these four.

[204] In the case of Mr Williams | take into accouo his credit that he has tried
over the years to make a contribution to his p&Esby serving on professional
bodies and assisting with the training of pupil@htes. It is also to his credit that
a number of his senior colleagues, like him in,silere prepared to speak on his
behalf and to say that they had never encountengdhant of unprofessional

behaviour on his part. He was described as besggpulously honest opponent.
That counts strongly in his favour. Every experah@dvocate knows which of
their colleagues can be trusted to fulfil their eridkings meticulously; not to

misrepresent their case; and to abide by the mde®rning litigation. Equally,

every experienced advocate knows which of theiteagues is likely, in the

vernacular, to try to ‘pull a fast one’; or seek take unfair advantage of an
opponent. It counts strongly in Mr Williams favotirat a number of his senior
colleagues speak so highly of him. It is also t® ¢riedit that he was the person
who immediately and openly admitted that greeddalyind his behaviour; that he
recognised that the double briefing in which heagsgl involved some risk that
clients might have been prejudiced, although he smne were; and that, of his
own accord, he repaid the amounts paid to him mmgeof contingency fee

agreements that were not reported to the PretaraaB required by its rules. His
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professions of regret and remorse ring true. Initead three senior and

experienced judges — all of them having held officeither their domestic bars or
the GCB or both — believed that allowing him to e#min practice would not harm
the good name of the profession or pose a riskd@tiblic. My colleagues Nugent
and Ponnan share that view. Although | am deephcemed at the scale of his
misconduct in the light of his seniority, after e reflection, | have come to the
conclusion that, although it is a borderline cabejrs is a view from which |

should not differ.

[205] Can the same be said for Mr Guldenpfennighithcase there is virtually
none of the evidence that is available in respécMp Williams. There were
however letters from four firms of attorneys whaukarly briefed him in Fund
matters and spoke highly of his skill and integride had been in practice at the
Bar for longer than Mr Williams, although he had teken silk. He had a greater
number of contraventions and the same financiaétiteriHe pleaded guilty to 90
counts of double briefing and 90 counts of ovech&ag. In response to the GCB'’s
application he denied dishonesty and denied th&tlkdebehaved disgracefully. He
‘categorically’ denied that he had been motivatgdylkeed and said that if he had
been he could have accepted far more briefs thaldhé am not impressed by this
statement. It merely demonstrates that he knew thatas doing was wrong and
limited his misconduct accordingly. He charged feeghe basis of what would be
allowed on taxation and indicated to attorneys thahy amount was taxed off he
would reduce his fees accordingly. These too irebla breach of the Bar rules.
He accepted that he had contravened the ruleseirpéniod prior to that under
enquiry but, save to say that the opportunity tesdavas less at that time, he gave

no details of the extent to which he did this.
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[206] Before the high court Mr Gildenpfennig main&l his stance that he had
not been dishonest and was one of those who caedeticht the Pretoria Bar's
attitude was more stringent than that of the Jobsiwrg Bar Council. This
argument was characterised by the high court asobreudacious ingenuity’ to
which the court listened ‘with amazemettf It concluded, correctly in my view,
that this showed a lack of remorétin regard to dishonesty his counsel said in
argument that he has accepted this without resenvaince the judgment’ in the
high court. When all this is weighed the positioeems to be that Mr
Guldenpfennig accepted that he had been in breatheoBar rules but did not
accept at any stage that he had behaved disgrigcana dishonestly. The belated
acceptance made on his behalf in argument in thist does not take the matter
further. In those circumstances | do not think th&tre is evidence from which to
draw the inference that he has insight into the tmature of what he did wrong.
That being so one cannot draw the inference thatviienot err again. In my
judgment, taking into account the nature and seness of the misconduct and the
terms of the response to it, the GCB’s appeal speet of Mr Glldenpfennig

should succeed.

[207] That brings me finally to the appeal by Mriierk. His misconduct was of
the same character as that of the others, butxtleateof it was less in terms of the
gains he made from it. That was so even thoughanged on accepting double
briefs and engaging in concomitant over-reachirrgniae days after learning of

the Bar’'s investigation. That is not surprising ks attitude up until the

12Reported judgment paras 24 and 25.
12lReported judgment para 29.
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disciplinary hearing before the Vorster committesswhat he had not breached the
rules at all. He made it clear in a letter addrédsethe investigating committee
that he could find no rule that precluded doubleflmg and that in his view he had
never charged excessive fees and was not guiltg. drily prohibition he had
found on double briefing was in the form of thecaiar sent to members of the
Pretoria Bar on 1 November 2006. He alleged, witleoyy substantiation, that a
number of other members of the Pretoria Bar shbelahvestigated for the same
offence and in a letter dated 26 March 2010 terbdwis resignation from the
Pretoria Bar and vacated his chambers. If thatwvedsaccepted then he asked for
his disciplinary hearing to be expedited and tlebk expelled from the Pretoria
Bar. When a disciplinary hearing was initially cemed he indicated that he would
plead not guilty. That resulted in the Vorster cattee being convened on 24 May
2010. He then sought a postponement on the basidawk of time to prepare. In
the course of argument his counsel made it cledrité challenged the correctness
of the Bar’s rulings regarding double briefing amcer-reaching. A postponement
was granted to the following day. At the resumedrimg he pleaded guilty to 74
counts of double briefing and 74 counts of ovech&ay. Having done so he asked
that he be expelled from the Pretoria Bar. He iaidid that he intended to try and
build up a practice afresh outside the ambit ofRhetoria Bar.

[208] It is proper to draw the inference that Mriderk at no stage accepted that
he had been guilty of wrongdoing, but wished to #reddisciplinary proceedings
and then return to practice outside membershiphefformal Bar. The Vorster
committee recommended that an application be madki$ name to be removed
from the roll of advocates. Instead the Bar Coumspgosed a sanction formulated

similarly to that of the other advocates and applethe high court for the noting
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of that sanction. De Klerk filed a detailed affidtam response to this in which he
in substance repeated his contentions that he ldbeen guilty of any

misconduct, save technical breaches of the Bas @uiging from the interpretation
given by the Pretoria Bar to those rules.

[209] When the GCB intervened in the proceedings HKderk filed a further
affidavit. It said little more than before. He dedidishonesty and relied on the
circular from the Johannesburg Bar. He reiteratedl he had undertaken this work
for the Fund under pressure from claims handlethetund’s prescribed tariff
and said that if he had charged his ‘normal’ fea isingle case that would have
exceeded the total fees he was earning in a dayesdt of double briefing.
However, there is a problem with this claim. At Hisciplinary hearing his counsel
placed on record that ‘He only had an RAF practarethe defendant’ and that
since the commencement of the disciplinary proceedhe did not have a practice
at all. There was accordingly no question of armalf fee other than the tariff fees
he was charging the Fund. He also refused to déalamy contraventions prior to

the period of the Pretoria Bar’s enquiry.

[210] What weighs in Mr de Klerk’s favour is thatshmisconduct caused less
harm to the Fund financially than that of most f dther colleagues. What counts
against him is his persistent failure to acceptt ths misconduct involved
dishonesty and was more serious than his charsatien of it as a technical
breach of Bar rules based on the Pretoria Bararpnétation of the rules, with
which he did not agree. His desire to remove hifrfsein disciplinary oversight
and his reliance on the Johannesburg Bar circol@pounded this. In argument in
this court he persisted in his contention that dosduct in accepting multiple
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briefs was permissible because he accepted theditiomally to the knowledge of
his instructing attorney. His counsel was howesdkpressed to explain how that
conditionality worked in practice. My conclusiontisat he lacked, and continued
throughout the proceedings to lack, any insight thte nature and seriousness of
his misconduct. That being so it cannot be infethred after a further suspension
from practice he would not again stray from thenpatrectitude. His appeal must

therefore fail.

Disposition of the appeals

[211] In my judgment the GCB’s appeals in respedt Messrs Geach,
Guldenpfennig and van Onselen should succeed. Tiersomade by the high
court should be set aside and replaced by ordeksgttheir names from the roll
of advocates. The GCB’s appeals in relation to kespton, Jordaan, Seima and
Williams should be dismissed. The appeals by Md3sesiidenhout, Pillay, Botha,
De Klerk, Leopeng and Mogagabe should succeedetextent that the orders that
they repay amounts to the Fund are set asidehburtappeals should otherwise be

dismissed.

[212] That leaves the question of costs. In my vibere is no reason to burden
Messrs Upton, Jordaan and Seima with further adverders for costs. The GCB
appeals in relation to them should be dismisset wi#ch party to pay his or its
own costs. Mr Williams tendered to pay the GCB’stsmn the attorney and client
scale and effect should be given to that tenderth&sappellants and respondents
In the other cases have failed in their oppositmithe GCB’s contentions, they

should be ordered to pay the GCB’s costs on thke stm between attorney and
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client, such costs to include the costs of twoqumiounsel and the out of pocket
expenses of Mr Epstein SC and Mr Bester, who appleaithout charging fees in
accordance with the best traditions of the Bar.

M J D WALLIS
JUDGE OF APPEAL



125

APPEARANCES:

On benhalf of the General Council of the Bar
H Epstein SC, A Bester, C Malema, R Wilson

Instructed by
Rooth &Wessels Inc, Pretoria
Naudes, Bloemfontein

On behalf of the Pretoria Society of Advocates
Q Pelser SC, L E Vilakazi

Instructed by
Bernhard van der Hoven, Pretoria
Rosendorff Reitz Barry, Bloemfontein

Counsel for appellants

M J Botha: Puckrin SC, C Harms

M C C de Klerk: P P Delport SC

T Pillay: A Bava SC, K Pillay, H Vermaak
P M Leopeng: M Khoza, A Cajee

D P Mogagabe: E M Coetzee SC, H J de Wet

L F Bezuidenhout: A de Vos SC

On behalf of Geach, Guldenpfenniq, Upton, Willian®ima, Jordaan, Van
Onselen, Pillay & Leopeng

B P Geach: S Rosenberg SC, A Katz SC, M loannou
JS M Gluldenpfennig: E Botha

M Upton: J F Mullins SC, R Kzyingo

J O'D Williams: J H Stroh SC

E Seima: J F Mullins SC, R Kzyingo

C G Jordaan: B C vd Heever SC, W W Geyser



C R van Onselen:

On behalf of Botha

126
B C vd Heever SC, W W Geyser

Instructed by

N Geach Attorneys, Pretoria
Honey Attorneys, Bloemfontein

Puckrin SC, C Harms

Instructed by

Klagsbrun de Vries Attorneys, Pretoria
Honey Attorneys, Bloemfontein

On behalf of De Klerk & Bezuidenhaut

P P Delport SC, A de Vos SC

Instructed by

Snyman de Jager Attorneys, Pretoria
Honey Attorneys, Bloemfontein

On behalf of Mogagabe

E M Coetzee SC, H J de Wet

Instructed by

Izak J Croukamp Attorneys, Pretoria
Honey Attorneys, Bloemfontein



